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LEXSEE 2003 U.S, DIST. LEXIS 12628

CHICAGO PRIME PACKERS, INC., Plaintiff, v. NORTHAM FOOD TRADING
CO,, Defendant.

Cause No. 01 C 4447

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION

2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12628

July 22, 2003, Decided
July 22, 2003, Docketed

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Judgment entered by Chi.
Prime Packers v. Northam Food Trading Co., 2004 U.S.
Dist. LEXI1S 9347 (N.D. [ll,, May 21, 2004)

PRIOR HISTORY: Chi. Prime Packers, fnc. v
Northam Food Trading Co., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9122
(N.D. L, May 28, 2003)

DISPOSITION: [*1] Plaintiff's Motion to Bar Expert
Testimony of John Maltby denied and Defendant's Mo-
tion in Limine denied without prejudice.

COUNSEL: For Chicago Prime Packers, Inc,
PLAINTIFF: R Matthew Simon, Joseph J Griseta, Simon
& Spitalli, Chicago, IL USA.

JUDGES: GERALDINE SOAT BROWN, United States
Magistrate Judge.

OPINION BY: GERALDINE SOAT BROWN

OPINION

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Before the court are Plaintiff's Motion to Bar Expert
Testimony of John Maltby [dkt # 84] and Defendant
Northam Foed Trading's Motion in Limine [dk # 85]. For
the teasons set out below, Plaintiff's motion is denied.
Defendant's motion is also denied, but without prejudice
and with a caveat.

As an initial matter, "motions in limine are disfa-
vored." Mi-Jack Products v. International Union of Op-
erating Engineers, Local 150, 1995 US. Dist. LEXIS

16930, No. 94 C 6676, 1995 WL 680214 at *1 (N.D. [il.
Nov. 14, 1995){Conlon, I.) Generally, "evidence should
not be excluded in limine unless it is clearly inadmissible
on all potential grounds." Jd Rather, rulings on evidence
"ordinarily should be deferred until trial” when they may
be resolved in the proper context. fd The movant bears
the burden of showing that the evidence that it seeks to
preclude is "clearly inadmissible.” Plair v. E./. Branch &
Sons, Inc., 864 F. Supp. 67, 69 (N.D. Il 1994). [*2]
Denial of a motion in limine is rot a ruling that the mate-
rial that is the subject of the motion is necessarily admis-
sible. Denial of a motion in limine means only that "out-
side the context of trial, the court cannot determine
whether the evidence in question is admissible.” Jd. at
69. Thus, "[a] ruling on a motion in limine is not a final
ruling on the admissibility of the evidence which is the
subject of the motion.” Meare v. General Motors Corp.,
Delco Remy Division, 684 . Supp. 220 (S.D. Ill. 1988},
Indeed, "an order on a motion in limine has been charac-
terized as an ‘advisory opinion subject to change as
events at trial unfold." /d (quoting Sales v. State Farm
Fire & Casualty Co., 632 F. Supp. 435, 436 (N.D. Ga.
1986)).

I. Plaintiff's Motion to Bar Expert Testimony of John
Maltby

Plaintiff has moved to bar any expert testimony and
reports by John Maltby. Dr. Maltby is not a retained ex-
pert. He is the United States Department of Agriculture
("USDA™) inspector who, in May, 2001, ordered the de-
struction of the pork ribs that arc at issue in this case. Dr.
Maltby did not prepare a report pursuant to Fed R [*3]
Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(B). Rather, he wrote a memorandum "to
whom it may concern” on May 23, 2001, the day he in-
spected the ribs, discussing his examination of the ribs,
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information he had learned from other individuals in-
cluding USDA TInspector Ken Ward and Compliance
Officer Chris Chlarson, and questions that remained to
be answered. That memorandum, referred to by the par-
ties as Dr. Maltby's report, is written on USDA letter-
head. Plaintiff argues that Dr. Maltby has not been prop-
erly disclosed pursuant to Fed R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2){B) and
is thus precluded from testifying as an expert.

Rule 26¢a)(2)(4) requires that ", . . a party shall dis-
close to other parties the identity of any person who may
be used at trial to present evidence under Rules 702, 703,
or 705 of the Federal Rules of Evidence." Rule
26¢a)(2)(B) includes more detailed disclosure require-
ments for "a witness who is retained or specially em-
ployed to provide expert testimony in the case or whose
duties as an employee of the party regularly involve giv-
ing expert testimony." Plaintiff does not offer any sup-
port for its argument that Dr. Maltby falls within the
scope of Rule 26(a)(2)(B).

Defendant's disclosure relating to Dr. [*4] Maltby
complies in format with Rule 26{a)(2){4). Defendant
stated in an interrogatory response:

It is anticipated that Dr. John Maitby of
the USDA will testify as an opinion wit-
ness at any trial of this matter. Defendant
furthermore states that the qualifications
of Dr. Maltby and the subject matter and
conclusions to which Dr. Maltby will tes-
tify are fully contained in his discovery
deposition transcript and his written report
of May 23, 2001.

{Def's Interrogatory Res. P 10, cited in Pl.'s Mot. at 2.}

Plaintiff cites the Mi-Jack case for the proposition
that failure to comply with Rule 26(aj(2) precludes the
use of the non-disclosed expert. (Pl's Mot. at 3.) It is
apparent from the context, however, that the decision in
the Mi-Jack case involved motions to bar the testimony
of retained witnesses for failure to comply with Rule
26(a)(2)(B)'s detailed disclosure requirements. Thus, the
Mi-Jack case does not apply to the present case.

Rule 26(a)(4) provides that “unless the court orders
otherwise, all disclosures under Rules 26(a)(1) through
(3) must be made in writing, signed, and served." Rule
26{a)(2)(C) states that expert disclosures are to be [*5]
made as directed by the court. Plaintiff asserts that, while
unsigned responses Were provided earlier, Defendant's
signed interrogatory responses were not received until
October 30, 2002, fifteen days after expert disclosures
were required by the parties’ Joint Discovery Plan. (Pl's
Mot at 2, n. 1.) The Joint Discovery Plan was adopted

by the court. [Dkt # 39]. Thus, Plaintiff implicitly argues,
Dr. Maltby was not properly disclosed even under Rule

26(a)(2)(4).

Failure to comply with the expert disclosure provi-
sions of Rule 26 is addressed by Rule 37. Rule 37(c)(1)
states:

A party that without substantial justifi-
cation fails to disclose information re-
quired by Rule 26(zjor 26(e)(1), or to
amend a priar response to discovery as
required by Rule 26(2)(2), is not, unless
such failure is harmless, permitted to use
as evidence at a trial, at a hearing, or on a
motion any witness or infermation not so
disclosed. Tn addition to or in lieu of this
sanction, the court, on motion and after
affording an opportunity to be heard, may
impose other appropriate sanctions.

The Seventh Circuit has stated:

The sanction of exclusion is automatic
and mandatory unless the sanctioned {*6]
party can show that its violation of Rule
26(a) was either justified or harmless. . ..
We have indicated that the following fac-
tors should guide the district court's dis-
cretion [in determining whether a Rule
26(a) violation is justified or harmless}:
(1) the prejudice or surprise to the party
against whom the evidence is offered; (2)
the ability of the party to cure the preju-
dice; (3) the likelihcod of disruption to the
trial; and (4) the bad faith or willfulness
involved in not disclosing the evidence at
an earlier date.

David v. Caterpillar, Inc., 324 F.3d 851, 857 (7th Cir.
2003)(citations and internal quotations omitted).

Regardless of whether Defendant's failure to serve a
signed and sworn interrogatory answer within the re-
quired period of time was justified, it is clear that Plain-
tiff suffered no prejudice as a result. Dr. Maltby's exis-
tence and the nature of his findings were well known to
Plaintiff prior to Defendant's formal disclosure of its in-
tention to call him as a witness. Indeed, by that time
Plaintiff had deposed him and had access to his report.
See Pl's Mot. at 3. The unsigned interrogatory answers
provided explicit written notice [*7] that Defendant was
contemplating calling him as an opinion witness. The
formal, signed interrogatory answers followed shortly
after the deadline had passed. Plaintiffs have not identi-
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fied any specific prejudice that resulted from the short
delay. Thus, Plaintiff's motion to exclude opinion testi-
mony by Dr. Maltby is denied.

Working on the erreneous assumption that Dr.
Maltby will not be able to testify as an opinion witness,
Plaintiff then argues that Dr. Maltby's report isnot a pub-
lic report under fed. R. Evid 803(8), and seeks to have it
stricken as based on inadmissible hearsay evidence, spe-
cifically, information provided by Inspector Ward to Dr.
Maltby. (PL's Mot. at 4-5). ¢ That part of Plaintiff's mo-
tion is likewise denied.

| Under Fed R Evid 703, an expert may base
his or her opinion on inadmissable evidence if
such evidence is "of a type reasonably relied
upon by experts in the particular field in forming
opinions or inferences upon the subject.” See
Daubert v. Merrelll Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
309 U.S, 579, 592, 125 L. Ed 2d 469, 113 8. CL.
2786 (1993)("an expert is permitted wide latitude
to offer opinions, including those that are not
based on firsthand knowledge or observation.”)
That includes hearsay. Grant v. Chemrex, 1997
[/ S Dist. LEXIS 6058, No. 93 C 0350, 1997 WL
223071 at *7 (N.D. 1L April 28, 1997)(Marovich,

1.

[*8] Dr. Maltby's report is admissible under Fed R.
Evid 803(8), which creates an exception to the hearsay
rule for "reports . . . of public offices or agencies, setting
forth (A) the activities of the office or agency, or {(B)
matters observed pursuant to duty imposed by law as to
which matters there was a duty to report . . . or (Cyin
civil actions and proceedings and against the Govern-
ment in critinal cases, factual findings resulting from an
investigation made pursuant to authority granted by law,
unless the sources of information or other circumstances
indicate lack of trustworthiness.” That exception to the
rute against hearsay is "grounded on the premise of
trustworthiness [,] the notion that reports prepared by
those with a duty to do so were inherently trustworthy."
Wetherill v. University of Chicago, 518 I. Supp. 1 387,
7389 (N.D. Il 1981).

The fact that the report is based in part on informa-
tion Dr. Maltby received from Inspector Ward does not
require its exclusion. Although "the person who prepared
the report is typically required to have personal knowl-
edge of the activities or facts . . . government officials
may rely on colleagues or subordinates who [*9] have
the requisite knowledge.” Jack B. Weinstein and Marga-
ret A. Berger, 5 Weinstein's Federal Evidence §
803.10[3][a) at 803-91 (2003). "Nothing in either the text
or the history of Rule 803(8) supports an approach that
would make the rule essentially useless--for the bureau-
crat who fills out a governmental form usually incorpo-

rates information furnished by others." In the Matter of
Oil Spill by the Amoco Cadiz, 954 F.2d 1279, 1308 (7th
Cir. 1992). Plaintiff does not dispute the reliability of Dr.
Maltby's report beyond asserting that it is based in part
on hearsay. See Beech Aircraft Corp. v. Rainey, 488 U.S.
153, 167 w1l 102 L. Ed 2d 445 109 S Ct 439
(1988 )(discussing nonexclusive four factor test for de-
termining the trustworthiness of report admitted pursuant
to Fed R Evid 803(8)).

Plaintiff's Motion is therefore denied. *

2 An issue not briefed by the parties is whether
the information that was communicated by In-
spector Ward to Dr. Maltby and used by Dr.
Maltby as the basis of his findings can be admit-
ted for the truth of Inspector Ward's statements.
Compare In re Oil Spill by the Amoco Cadiz, 954
F2d ar 1308 ("Rule 803(8) is a multi-level ex-
ception, in the footsteps of its common law pre-
cursors”) with In re James Wilson Associates, 965
F 2d 160, 172-73 (7th Cir. 1992)(expert may €x-
plain facts underlying opinion even if facts are
inadmissible, but the facts may not be admissible
for other purposes).

[*10] IL Defendant's Motion

Defendant seeks an order "barring Plaintiff from of-
fering opinion testimony from any person, employee of
Chicago Prime Packers, Inc., or Nationwide Foods that
was not properly disclosed pursuant to Rule 26(a)(2)(B).
.. ." (Def’'s Mot. at 1.) Defendant states that Plaintiff has
not identified any individuals who will offer opinion
testimony at trial. (fd)} Defendant further states that al-
though Plaintiff was granted permission to adopt the
opinion witnesses of now-dismissed co-defendant Na-
tionwide Foods, Nationwide likewise had not disclosed
any opinion witnesses. (/d. at 2.}

Defendant's motion is denied without prejudice as
moot because Plaintiff has disclaimed any intention of
offering an opinion witness, and admits that it never dis-
closed any opinion witness. (Pl's Resp. Def's Mot. in
Limine at §-2.3 However, Plaintiff's Response also states
that "Plaintiff will seek testimony from witnesses that
may be considered opinion testimony under Rule 701 of
the Federal Rules of Evidence,” particularly about indus-
try practice and the spoliation of frozen foods. (Jd at 2-
3.) Plaintiff quotes a version of Rule 701 that was super-
ceded by the [¥11} 2000 amendments to that Rule. (fd
at 2.) Significantly, Rule 701 was amended to add an
additional subsection (c), requiring that lay opinion evi-
dence "ot [be] based on scientific, technical, or other
specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702."
Fed R Evid 701(c).
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As the Committee Comments to the 2000 amend-
ments demonstrate, that subsection was added specifi-
cally to "ensures that a party will not evade the expert
witness disclosure requirements set forth in Fed R. Civ.
P 26 and Fed R. Crim. P. 16 by simply calling an expert
witness in the guise of a layperson.” Committee Com-
ments, 2000 Amendments to Rule 701. See also Nichols
v Johnson, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7743, No. (0 C 7785,
20002 WL 826482 a *4 (ND. Il May |
2002)(Schenkier, M.I)excluding testimony of police
officer that would be based on his training and experi-
ence where officer was not disclosed as expert witness).

Plaintiff is therefore cautioned that, although Defen-
dant's motion is, strictly speaking, moot at this time, the

court will entertain an objection at the time of trial to any
evidence or testimony that would present opinion testi-
mony that is dependant on scientific, technical, or other
specialized [*12] knowledge without appropriate prior
disclosure under Rufe 26¢a)(2).

Defendant's motion is denied as moot without preju-
dice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
GERALDINE SOAT BROWN

United States Magistrate Judge
DATED: July 22, 2003
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HOnly the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, N1, Illinois, Eastern
Division,
MERRILL LYNCH BUSINESS FINANCIAL
SERVICES, INC,, Plaintiff,
v.
GRAY SUPPLY COMPANY, INC,, et al., Defen-
dants.
Nos. 91 C 1449, 91 C 1554,

Dec. 23, 1991.
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

CONLON, District Judge.

*1 In this diversity action for damages and replevin,
plaintiff Merrill Lynch Business Financial Services,
Inc. (“Merriil Lynch™) sues Gray Supply Company,
Inc., Gray Supply of Texas, Inc., H. Lee Hastings,
Thomas S. Ward and Hawk Industries, Inc. {collec-
tively “defendants”). Merrill Lynch seeks to recover
certain equipment that serves as collateral for several
loans made by Merrill Lynch to defendants. Defen-
dants assert counterclaims for intentional misrepre-
sentation, breach of contract, and intentienal interfer-
ence with contract and prospective contractual advan-
tage. Merrill Lynch brings two motions in /imine.
The first motion seeks to bar parol evidence with
respect to several loan and security agreements be-
tween the parties. The second motion seeks to bar the
trial testimony of defendants’ nine expert witnesses.

DISCUSSION

A pretrial motion in limine serves to exclude irrele-
vant, prejudicial, or otherwise inadmissible evidence
prior to trial, rather than relying on sustained objec-
tions and curative instructions at trial. To exclude
evidence before trial, evidence must clearly be inad-
missible on all possible grounds. A ruling on a mo-
tion in limine is subject to change as events at trial
unfold. Moore v. General Motors Corp. Delco Remy
Div., 684 F.Supp. 220 (S.D.Ind.1988). A trial court
judge has broad discretion to determine the relevance
of proffered evidence. Hamling v. United States, 41 3
U.S. 87, 124-25 (1974); United States v, Laughlin,
772 E2d 1382, 1392 (7th Cir.1985). Accordingly,

Page 1

rulings on admissibility of evidence ordinarily should
be deferred untii trial, so that questions of foundation,
relevancy, and prejudice may be resolved in proper
context,

I. Motion to bar parol evidence

The parties entered into three loan and security
agreements (“the loan agreements”) from 1989 to
1990. Merrill Lynch speculates that defendants may
attempt to introduce extrinsic evidence that goes be-
yond the terms of the loan agreements themselves.
Merrill Lynch argues that any extrinsic evidence of-
fered by defendants concerning Merrill Lynch's al-
leged breach of the loan agreements should be barred
before tria) under the parol evidence rule.

1t is true that the parol evidence rule excludes extrin-
sic evidence to vary, alter or contradict a written corni-
tract that is complete, unambiguous and valid.
Johnson v, Flueckiger, 81 1ll.App.3d 623, 40!
N.E.2d 1317, 1318-1319 (1980). However, there are
several important exceptions to the parol evidence
rule. The parol evidence rule does not apply if the
contract is affected by fraud, duress, or mistake, or if
the contract's terms are incomplete or ambiguous.
Furthermore, the parol evidence rule does not apply
to additional consistent terms of the contract. /d.

Merrill Lynch requests the court to bar any possible
extrinsic evidence that could be offered by defen-
dants by finding that the loan agreements are unam-
biguous as a matter of law before trial. This request is
without merit. The copy of the lean agreement pro-
vided by Merrill Lynch consists of 32 single-spaced
pages, and has over 40 attached additional pages.
Merrili Lynch fails to specifically identify the extrin-
sic evidence to be offered by the defendants at trial,
or the purpose for which such evidence will be of-
fered. Merrill Lynch also fails to identify the relevant
provisions of the loan agreements that are allegedly
unambiguous. Consequently, the court has no basis
for determining the admissibility of speculative ex-
trinsic evidence that may or may not be offered by
the defendants at trial. Rulings on the applicability of
the parol evidence rule shall be deferred until trial,
when the court may determine the exact nature of the
evidence offered and the purpose for which it is of-
fered. Accordingly, Merrill Lynch's motion in limine

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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to bar parol evidence is denied.
11 Motien to bar defendants’ expert testimony

*2 Opn October 2, 1991, Merrill Lynch served defen-
dants with its expert interrogatories, by Federal Ex-
press, pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(bY()}AXD) (“Rule
26(b)4)(AIY"). The expert interrogatories requested
the identity of each expert witness expected to be
called by defendants at trial, the subject matter of the
expert's expected testimony, the substance of the
facts and opinions of the expert's expected testimony,
and a summary of the grounds for each expert's opin-
ion.2  Discovery closed on October 18, 1991, On
that date, defendants submitted their pretrial order,
naming nine expert witnesses expected to be called at
trial.F*2  Defendants subsequently answered the ex-
pert interrogatories on November 4, 1991, the last
day permitted for answering by Rules 33(a) and
6(a).

Merrill Lynch argues that it has been severely preju-
diced by defendants' untimely disclosure of its ex-
perts on the last date of discovery, and thus moves
that all defendants’ experts be barred from testifying
at trial. However, Merrill Lynch's problem is largely
of its own making. Merrill Lynch was fully aware of
the discovery closing date and that no further exten-
sions would be granted.m Yet, Merrill Lynch inex-
plicably waited until approximately fwo weeks before
the close of discovery, and nearly seven months after
the commencement of this action to serve Its expert
interrogatories. Furthermore, under Rule 33(a), de-
fendants were permitted 3¢ days to answer the expert
interrogatories. Under these circumstances, Merrill
Lynch has little basis to complain that it was not in-
formed of defendants' expert witnesses until October

18, 1991.

Nevertheless, the discovery of expert opinion must
not be allowed to degenerate into a game of evasion.
Voegeli v. Lewis, 568 F.2d 89. 97 (8th Cir.1977).
There are several problems with defendants' list of
nine experts and with defendants’ answers to the ex-
pert interrogatories. First, Rule 26(b)4) provides that
expert witnesses are witnesses whose information is
acquired in preparation for trial. Consequently, wit-
nesses who have obtained information prior to the
litigation as an actor or viewer with respect to the
transactions or occurrences that are a part of the sub-
ject matter of the suit must be treated as ordinary
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witnesses rather than expert witnesses. See Advisory
Committee's notes on the 1970 amendment to Rule
26{(0)4); Juhl Lines v. Northeast Iilinois Railroad
Corp., No. 89C-4721, 1990 WI. 37633 at 2
(N.D.111.1990).

Four of defendants' nine experts are not qualified to
be expert witnesses because they obtained informa-
tion concerning the subject matter of this action prior
to the filing of the lawsuit. Friederichsen and Yuspeh
are employed by Southern Scrap, Inc., and are ex-
pected to testify as to their company's coniractual
expectations with the defendants, and also as to
Merrill Lynch's alleged interference with prospective
contractual relationships.™  Both of these issues
involve Friederichsen and Yuspeh's participation or
observation with respect to the relevant transactions
and occurrences before this litigation began. Accord-
ingly, Friederichsen and Yuspeh may only be called
as ordinary fact witnesses, and not as expert wit-
nesses. [n addition, Bozzano was initially selected by
Merrill Lynch to evaluate the defendants’ operations,
and then was retained by defendants in December
1990, prior to this litigation.m(’ Barber, who was
hired by Merrill Lynch at the inception of its relation-
ship with the defendants, prepared the appraisals of
defendants' collateral prier to this litigation. ™ For
the same reason, Bozzano and Barber may only be
called as ordinary fact witnesses, and not as expert
witnesses. /d.

*3 This leaves only Shuffield, Venus, Harkins, Clay
and Wengert as defendants’ expert witnesses. How-
ever, Venus, Harkins, and Clay are proffered for tes-
timony on the same subject matter. Specifically, these
three experts are expected to testify on “loan work-
outs” and “liquidations,” as well as the banking “in-
dustry standards™ of “loan management.” B The
testimony of three expert witnesses on the same sub-
ject matter is not acceptable. The standard pretrial
order form provides as follows:

Only one expert witness on each subject for each
party will ordinarily be permitted. If more than one
expert witness is listed, the subject matter of each
expert's testimony shall be specified.

N.D.I1.Gen.R. 5.00(a) at note 8. See also Fleicher
v. Jacques Conway, No. 89C-5183, 1991 WL, 24460
(N.D.T1.1991). In addition, Fed.R.Evid. 403 allows
the court to exclude the “needless presentation of

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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cumulative evidence.” Thus, defendants shall only
be permitted to call one of these three experts at trial.

Furthermore, defendants’ answers to Merrill Lynch's
expert interrogatories are inadequate because they are
evasive and vague. It is well settled that the primary
purpose of Rule 26(b)(4)(AX1) is to facilitate effec-
tive cross-examination and rebuttal of expert testi-
mony, as well as to inform the judge of the areas of
expertise to be presented. Jefferson v. Davis, 131
FRD. 522. 525 (N.D.I.1990). Accordingly, the
answers to expert interrogatories must be both re-
sponsive and complete in themselves. The answers
may not just refer to pleadings, depositions, or other
documents. The answers must precisely state the sub-
ject matter of the expert's testimony, explain the
terms used in the response, disclose the expert's po-
tential theories, and otherwise inform the opposing
party of the reasons or basis for the expert's opinions,
so that the opposing party may gather evidence to
rebut the expert's opinions, Evasive answers and gen-
eral statements of the expert's testimony are not ac-
ceptable. [d at 525-528:;  Uresil Corp. v. Cook
Group, Inc., 135 FR.D. 168, 171-173 (N.D.IIL1991).

Defendants offer nothing but general statements of
their experts' expected testimony. ™  Thus, defen-
dants' answers fall far short of the requirements of
Rule 26(b}4¥AXiD). This presents considerable
prejudice to Merrill Lynclh's trial preparation. When a
party fails to adequately answer expert interrogatories
in compliance with Rule 26(b)4}A)(i), the court has
the discretion to fashion the appropriate response. /d.

Accordingly, defendants are ordered to submit
amended answers to Merrill Lynch's interrogatories
in compliance with Rule 26(b)(4)(A)(1) by January 2,
1992. Failure to do so shall result in the exclusion of
all defendants' expert witnesses from trial. Defen-
dants are also ordered to designate in writing their
sole expert witness on the issues of industry stan-
dards for loan management, loan workouts, and lig-
uidations by January 2, 1992,

CONCLUSION

*4 Merrill Lynch's motion in /imine to exclude parol
evidence is denied. Merrill Lynch's motion in fimine
to bar defendants' expert testimony is granted in part
and denied in part. Richard Friederichsen, Larry
Yuspeh, Dean Bozzano, and R.L. Barber are barred
from testifying as expert witnesses, but may testify as
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ordinary fact witnesses. Defendants are ordered to
designate in writing either Dr. Charles Venus, Al
Harkins, or Ronald Clay as their sole expert witness
on the issue of industry standards of loan manage-
ment, loan workouts, and liquidations by January 2,
1992. The two expert witnesses who are not so des-
ignated are barred from testifying at trial. Further-
more, defendants are ordered to submit amended an-
swers to Merrill Lynch's expert interrogatories in full
compliance with Rule 26(b}(4)(A)i) by January 2,
1992, Failure to do so shall result in the exclusion of
all of defendants' expert witnesses from trial =

ENI1. See Merrill Lynch's motion at exhibit
A.

ENZ. See statement of defendants’ expert
witnesses’ qualifications, attached to Merrill
Lynch's memorandum as exhibit B. The nine
expert witnesses are Richard G. Friederich-
sen (“Friederichsen”), Larry Yuspeh (“Yus-
peh™), Cheryl Shuffield (“Shuffield™), Dr.
Charles Venus (“Venus”), Dean Bozzano
(“Bozzano™), Al Harkins (“Harkins”),
Ronald Clay (“Clay™), R.L. Barber (“Bar-
ber”), and Paul Wengert (“Wengert”).

FN3. Defendants' answers to Merrill Lynch's
expert interrogatories are attached to defen-
dants' response as exhibit C.

FN4. See this court's minute order of August
14, 1991,

FN3. See July 11, 1991 letter from defen-
dants’ counsel to Merrill Lynch's counsel, at-
tached to defendants’ response as exhibit A.

FN6. See Merrill Lynch's motion at 4, de-
fendants' statement of expert witnesses'
qualifications at § 5.

FN7. See Merrill Lynch's motion at 4, de-
fendants' statement of expert witnesses'

qualifications at Y 8.

FNS. Defendants' answers to Merrill Lynch's
expert interrogatories at 2-3.

FN9. For example, defendants’ state that

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig, US Gov. Works.
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their experts will testify as to the “operations
of defendants;” ‘“industry standards in loan
management, workouts and liquidations;”
and “projections to establish value of defen-
dants' operations.” Defendants provide no
further elaboration of these vague state-
ments. Furthermore, the experts' opinions
are typically said to be based upon “experi-
ence and training” or “general knowledge.”
Defendants also refer to depositions and
other documents rather than provide com-
plete answers. See defendants’ answers to
expert interrogatories.

EN10. This leaves defendants with a maxi-
mum of three expert witnesses at trial:
Shuffield, Wengert, and defendants’ choice
of either Venus, Harkins or Clay.

N.D.IIL., 1991,

Merrill Lynch Business Financial Services, Inc. v.
Gray Supply Co,, Inc.

Not Reported in F.Supp., 1991 WL 278305 (N.D.1I1.)

END OF DOCUMENT

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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HOnly the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, N.D. Hlinots.
SCRANTON GILLETTE COMMUNICATIONS,
INC., Plaintiff,
v.
William Q. DANNHAUSEN, et al., Defendant.
No. 96 C 8353.

Aug. 26, 1998.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER ON
DEFENDANTS' MOTION IN LIMINE

URBOM, Senior District I.

#1 The defendants, William O. Dannhausen, Eugene
H. McCormick, Jerry Curtice, Laurie N. Dlugos, and
McCormick Communications Group Ltd., move in
limine to exclude twenty-three witnesses 21 and
twenty-nine documents - that the plaintiff failed to
produce pursuant to the defendants’ discovery re-
quests as required by the Federal Rules of Civil Pro-
cedure; in particular, Rule 26(e)(2). The plaintiff con-
tends, however, that it has fully complied with all its
discovery obligations and therefore its witnesses and

documents at issue should not be barred from trial.

FNI. Edward Gillette, Linda Lambden, Dan
Serum, Tim Campbell, Tami Morrell, Shel-
don Schultz, Adrienne WMiller, Danny
McBride, Keith Doak, Adrena Bauman, Jim
Henderson, John Parrish, Nora McElroy,
Frank Johnson, Nancy Horvat, Lorence
Wenke, Juanita Jones Wilmere Paul Tho-
mas, Bill Longfellow, Alden Longfellow,
John Nelson, Lynn Whitmore, and Frank
Paulo.

FN2. Plaintiffs Exhibits 79, 80, 89, 90, 91,
92. 113, 115, 117, 126, 128, 158, 159, 160,
161, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169,
172,173, 179, 180, 222, and 225.

The Law

The general purpose of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is to promote liberal discovery in an effort
to narrow the issues for trial and to prevent unfair
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surprise. Rule 26(¢)(2), in line with this purpose, im-
poses a duty on a party to amend and supplement
previaus discovery requests when its prior response is
known to be incomplete or incorrect and if the cor-
rection is not otherwise communicated to the other
party during discovery. FED. R, CIV. P. 26(e)(2).""
No motion to compel is necessary. fd See also 6
JAMES WM., MOORE ET AL. MOORE'S
FEDERAL PRACTICE 26.132[3] (3d ed.1998) (cit-
ing Alldread v. City of Grenada, 988 F.2d 1425, 1436
{5th Cir.1993) (“Rule 26 imposes no requirement,
express or implied, that a motion to compel precede a
court's imposition of a sanction ... for failure to sup-
plement expert interrogatory responses.”). Rather the
duty to supplement discovery requests lingers on
without subsequent solicitation. Pasant v. Jackson
Nat? Life ins. Co., 137 FR.D. 255 257
(N.D.IL.1991). The Rule, however, does not require a
party to tender any information not within the scope
of previous discovery requests. SeeFED. R, CIV. P.
26{e}(2). Furthermore, a party need not supplement
its answers to prior discovery if the information has
been made known to the other party otherwise
through the discovery process. SeeFED, R. CIV. P.
26(¢) advisory committee's note (1993).

EN3. Although the plaintift’s original filing
of its case was in the Circuit Court of Cook-
County, the rule governing the parties con-
duct in discovery is essentiaily the same;
“[a] party has a duty to seasonably supple-
ment or amend any prior answer or response
whenever new or additional information
subsequently becomes known to that
party.”11{. Sup.Ct. Rule 21300).

Rule 26(e)2) itself does not provide sanctions for its
violation. FED. R, CIV. P, 26(e); Pederson v. Lowisi-
ana  State  Unjv.. 912 F.Supp. 892, 933-36
(M.D.La.1996). Nor does Rule 37(c)(1}'s exclusion-
ary mandate apply to its violations. See, e.g., Brasic
v. Heinemann's Inc. Bakeries, 1996 WL 495562, at
*3 (N.D.T11.1996) (finding that Rule 37(c)(1) applies
only to violations pertaining to mandatory disclosures
and not discovery requests.}). Rather sanctions for
failure to comply with Rule 26(e)(2) fall squarely
within the trial court's discretion. Moore v. Boaling
Industry  Associgtions, 754 F.2d 698, 715 (7th

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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Cir.1985), vacated, Boating Industry Associations v.
Moore, 474 U.S. 895, 106 S.Ct. 218, 88 ..Ed.2d 218
(1985), aff’d in part and rev'd in part, Moore v.
Boating _Industry _Associations, 819 F.2d 693 (7th
Cir.1987Y; see also Scaggs v. Comsolidated Rail
Corp.. 6 F.3d 1290, 1293 (7th Cir.1993) (“The dis-
trict court has broad discretion when deciding if sanc-
tions for discovery violations should be imposed”);
Heidelberg Harris, Inc., v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus-
tries, Lid, and MLP U84, 1996 WL 680243, at *§
(N.D.111.1996) (“The [ ] Court has broad discretion in
determining whether to impose sanctions ....”) (cita-
tions omitted).

#3, Should the court determine a party has in fact vio-
lated Rule 26(e)(2) by failure to timely supplement
its answers to interrogatories or requests for docu-
ment production the court may, at its discretion, im-
pose sanctions including excluding the evidence,
granting a continuance, or any other action this court
deems appropriate under the circumstances. FED. R,
CIV. P. 26(e) advisory committee’s note (1970); see
alse Holiday Inn. Inc. v. Robertshaw Controls Co.,
560 F.2d 856, 858 (7th Cir.1997). The decision to
award sanctions, in light of a violation of the discov-
ery rule, the court must consider not only the impor-
tance of the evidence to the case but must weigh that
importance against the possible prejudice to the con-
testing party resulting from its admission into evi-
dence. Moore, 754 F.2d at 515;see also 6 JAMES
WM. MQORE ET AL, MOORE'S FEDERAL
PRACTICE 26.132[2] (3d ed.1998) (other factors to
guide the court's determination include “[t}he possi-
bility of curing prejudice by granting a continuance”
and “[t]he explanation, if any, for the party's failure
to comply with the duty to supplement.”). Indeed, the
goal behind Rule 26(e)(2} is to prevent any unfair,
prejudicial surprise at trial. See Heidelberg Harris,
Inc., v, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd, and MLP
USA. 1996 WL 680243, at *8§ (N D.IL.1996)
(** [t]he purpose of [Rule 26(e)(2) ] is to prevent trial
by ambush.” * (quoting Gorman v. Chicago Housing
Authority, 1991 WL 10893, at *2 (N.D.111.1991}1).

Applicationt and Analysis

Initially the plaintiff filed its claim in the Circuit
Court of Cook County. For nearly two years, while
the case remained in that court, the parties actively
engaged in discovery. In particular, the defendants
served at least one set of interrogatories and two sets
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of document requests in an effort to obtain any in-
formation that may lead to admissible evidence at
trial. The plaintiff responded to the defendants' first
set of interrogatories naming nineteen potential wit-
nesses. The plaintiff's supplemental response named
no further witnesses. With respect to the defendants’
request for documents, the plaintiff responded gener-
ally that its investigation was ongoing and all rele-
vant documents would be produced at a time in the
future agreed upon by the parties. Occasionally, the
plaintiff objected on grounds that the request called
for confidential business communications.

In December of 1996, the plaintiff voluntarily dis-
missed its claim in Cook County and filed the present
suit in this court under the Lanham Act. In today's
telephonic conference | ruled that the discovery pro-
cedures of the state court action were effective but
that no obligation to supplement discovery answers
continued after the state court action was dismissed.
A discovery deadline was set for July 3, 1997, in this
federal court action. Even so, no further discovery
requests were made by either party during the first
five months of litigation in this court,

*3 On June 30, 1997, the plaintiff filed a motion to
amend its complaint and to extend discovery beyond
the July 3, 1997, deadline. The motion to amend was
granted. In ruling on the motion to extend discovery
Judge Lindberg at least allowed further discovery
relating to the new amendments to the plaintiff's
complaint; more specifically, claims against Jerry
Curtice, a new defendant, and a new claim for trade
dress infringement. The parties disagree with respect
to any further limitations or -allowances made by
Judge Lindberg.

Subsequently, the defendants served another set of
interrogatories and document requests on the plain-
tiff. Objecting on the basis of the limited discovery
order, the plaintiff tailored its answers and document
production to fall within its purview as the plaintiff's
counsel understand it.

In August, the defendants moved to compel the plain-
tiff to answer the interrogatories and to produce the
documents requested. On August 22, 1997, the mo-
tion was granted. A deadline of August 28, 1997, was
set for the plaintiff's response. No response was made
on or before this deadline.

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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On August 29, 1997, one day after the deadline, the
plaintiff produced two boxes of documents. These
boxes contained at least fifteen of the twenty-nine
documents the defendants seek to bar from trial. In
addition, the plaintiff supplemented its answers to the
defendants interrogatories revealing at least six po-
tential witnesses.

Furthermore, in its Memorandum in Opposition to
the defendants' Motion in Limine, the plaintiff ex-
plains that nine P additional witnesses had not been
previously disclosed because it did not have knowl-
edge of them until the filing of the pretrial order. |
shall exclude them. The plaintiff has not shown dili-
gence in searching for them or that allowing them to
testify would not be unfair to the defendants.

FN4. Danny McBride, Keith Doak, Adrena
Bauman, Jim Henderson, John Parrish, Nora
McElroy, Bill and Alden Longfellow and
John Nelson.

Conclusion

IT 1S ORDERED that the defendants' Motion in
Limine is granted as to the following witnesses:

Lynn Whitmote
Linda Lambden
Dan Serum
Sheldon Schultz
Tim Campbell
Adrienne Miller
Frank Paulo
Juanita Wilmore
Frank Johnson
Danny McBride

Keith Doak
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Adrena Bauman
Jim Henderson
John Parrish
Nora McElroy
Bill Longfellow
Alden Longfellow
John Nelson
and the motion otherwise is denied.

N.D.IH., 1998.
Seranton  Gillette Communications, Inc. v. Dann-

hausen
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 1998 WL 566668

(N.D.1IL)

END OF DOCUMENT
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LEXSEE 2006 U.S, DIST. LEXIS 85678

SUNSTAR, INC, Plaintiff, v. ALBERTO-CULVER COMPANY, INC. and BANK
ONE CORPORATION f/k/a FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CHICAGO, Defen-
dants. ALBERTO-CULVER COMPANY, a Delaware Corporation, Plaintiff, v.

SUNSTAR, INC., a Japanese Corporation, SUNSTAR GROUP COMPANY (f/k/a

Alberto-Sunstar Co., Ltd.), a Japanese Corporation, KANEDA, KASAN,
KABUSHIKI KAISHA, a Japanese Corporation, and BANK ONE, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee under Trust Agreement No. 22-81196, dated February
27, 1980, a National Banking Association, Defendants.

No. 01 C 736, No. 01 C 5825

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION

2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85678

November 16, 2006, Decided

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Motion for new trial de-
nied by, Motion granted by Sunstar, Inc, v. Alberto-
Culver Co., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62135 (N.D. 11,
Aug. 22, 2007)

PRIOR HISTORY; Sunstar, [nc. v. Alberto-Culver Co.,
2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23098 (N.D. 1l1., Sept. 19, 2005)

COUNSEL: [*}] For Sunstar Inc, Plaintiff, Counter
Defendant: Carolyn C Andrepont, Patula & Associates,
Chicago, IL; Charles Thomas Riggs, Ir., Patula & Asso-
ciates, P.C., Chicago, IL; Janice A Payne, Marvin R
Lange, Melissa Jayne LaRocca, Robert A Schwinger,
Scott Sonny Balber, Chadbourne & Parke LLP, New
York, NY; Paige J Thomsen, Timothy Todd Patula,
Patula & Associates, Chicago, TL; William S D'Amico,
Chadbourne & Parke LLP, Washington, DC.

For Alberto-Culver Company, Defendant, Counter
Claimant: Craig S. Fochler, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Charles Robert Mandly, Jr., Jennifer L. Greger, Michael
R. La Porte, Foley & Lardner, Chicago, IL; John Sheldon
Letchinger, Lindsey Dinner Barnes, Melissa Suzanne
Skilken, Wildman, Harrold, Allen & Dixen, Chicago, IL.

For Bank One Corp., formerly known as First Naticnal
Bank of Chicago, The, Defendant: Daniel A. Dupre,
JPMorgan Chase, Chicago, IL; John Bostjancich, Patricia
Sysan Smart, Smart & Bostjancich, Chicago, IL.

For Alberto-Culver Company, a Delaware corporation,
Plaintiff: Craig S. Fochler, LEAD ATTORNEY, Charles

Robert Mandly, Jr., Foley & Lardner, Chicago, [L; John
Shetdon Letchinger, Mike M Yaghmi, Wildman, Har-

rold, Allen & Dixon, Chicago, 1L.

[¥2] For Sunstar Inc, a Japanese corporation, Kaneda,
Kasan, Kabushiki Kaisha, a Japanese corporation, De-
fendants: Paul Ethan Slater, LEAD ATTORNEY, Sper-
ling & Slater, Chicago, IL; Carelyn C Andrepont, Patula
& Associates, Chicago, IL; Charles Thomas Riggs, Ir.,
Patula & Associates, P.C., Chicago, IL; Janice A Payne,
Marvin R Lange, Melissa Jayne LaRocca, Robert A
Schwinger, Scott Sonny Balber, Chadbourne & Parke
LLP, New York, NY; Paige ] Thomson, Timothy Todd
Patula, Patula & Associates, Chicago, TL: William S
D'Amico, Chadbourne & Parke LLP, Washington, DC.

For Bank One, National Association, as trustee under
Trust Agreement No. 22-81196, dated 2/27/80, a national
banking association, Defendant: John Bostjancich,
LEAD ATTORNEY, Patricia Susan Smart, Smart &
Bostjancich, Chicago, IL.

JUDGES: RONALD A. GUZMAN, United States Dis-
trict Judge.

OPINION BY: RONALD A. GUZMAN
OPINION

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

These related cases arise from a dispute between
Sunstar, Alberto-Culver Company ("Alberto") and Bank
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One ("the Bank") over Sunstar's use of a modified
trademark ("1999 mark™) in Japan. The case is before the
Court for rulings on: (1) the parties' objections to Magis-
trate Judge [*3] Nolan's August 22, 2006 Report and
Recommendation on the admissibility of the exhibits and
deposition testimony the parties' seek to introduce at trial
("Order"); (2) the motions of Alberto and the Bank to bar
Sunstar from presenting the testimony of Dorethy
Spencer, or any other the witness from Desgrippes, Gobe
&, Associates ("DGA™), and related exhibits; and (3)
Sunstar's motion to declare that Alberto may not proceed
at the trial with any claim against Sunstar for damages.
For the reasons set forth below, the Court sets aside only
two of Judge Nolan's determinations: (a) that Malcolm
Lloyd's deposition testimony at 68:3 to 69:4 and 73:6 to
74:17 is inadmissible hearsay: and (b) that the Bank
withdrew its objection to the admissibility of John Pren-
diville's deposition testimony at 84:14-22 and 85:7-16.
The Court: {1) adopts Judge Nolan's Order in all other
respects and overrules the parties’ objections to it; (2)
grants the motions of Alberto and the Bank to bar Sun-
star from presenting testimony from Spencer, or other
DGA witnesses, and related exhibits; and (3) denies Sun-
star's motion to declare that Alberto may not proceed at
the trial with any claim against Sunstar for damages.

[*4] Discussion

1 The facts of the case have previously been de-
scribed in opinions by Judge Lindberg, Magis-
trate Judge Nolan and this Court and will not be
repeated here.

Alberto's Objections to the Order

We will modify or set the Order aside only if it is
"clearly erroneous ot contrary to law.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
72(a). Among other things, Judge Nolan determined that
Sunstar could introduce the following deposition testi-
mony and exhibits to rebut Alberto’s claim that Sunstar's
use of the 1999 mark might lessen the value of the li-
censed marks: (1) Bernick deposition at 36:17 to 37:14,
39:9 to 39:19, 86:10 to 86:19, 89:2 to §9:9, 89:20 to
93:7, 93:9 to 93:13, 944 to 04:12, 106:1 to 107:2,
107:16 to 107:24, 108:12 to 109:1, 109:3 to 109:5,
115:14 to 116:11, 151:9 to 151:23, 152:1 to 1.52:22,
154:13 to 154:21, 155:21 to 156:3, 156:10 to 156:24,
158:6 to 1589, 189:23 to 1919, 299:15 to 299:19,
126:20 to 326:22 and 326:24; (2) Lavin deposition at 77:
[*51 2210 79:9, 79:12 10 79:16, 79:22 to 80:2: (3) Lloyd
deposition at 127.2 to 128:22, 135:4 to 138:6; (4) Shake-
shaft deposition at 41:13 to 41:20, 42:23 to 43:13, 43:16
to 44:25, 45:12 to 45:21, 55:17 to 56:8, 56:13; (5)
Schmidt deposition at 103:1 to 108:11, 108:17 to 111:23,
112:3 to 113:2, 113:6 to 113:13, 113:17 to 114:11; (6)

Prendiville deposition at 39:17 to 40:10, 94:3 1o 94:7;
and (7} Sunstar exhibits 11, 12, 30, 46, 50, 54, 55, 82 and
84-89. In general, this evidence suggests that Alberto
uses, or permits its licensees to use, logos that deviate
from the licensed marks in markets outside of Japan;
Alberto has registered marks that deviate from the li-
censed marks in various countries; Alberto takes various
steps, including changing its logo and product packaging,
to strengthen its sales and trademarks; and Alberte did
not formally measure the value of its marks in Japan.
Alberto says the evidence is irrelevant because: trade-
mark owners, unlike lcensees, are free to modify or
abandon their marks; Alberto's activities outside of Japan
shed no light on Sunstar's rights under the license; and
the steps Alberto takes to enhance its sales and trade-
marks have no bearing on whether [*6] Sunstar's use of
the 1999 mark was likely to lessen the value of the li-
censed marks. Alberto also contends that the evidence is
prejudicial because it would lead the jury to equate li-
cense rights with ownership rights or believe that Alberto
had a duty to measure the licensed marks' value in Japan.

Magistrate Judge Nolan properly rejected Alberto's
arguments. Alberto claims that Sunstar's use of the 1999
mark breached the license agreement because it was
likely to lessen the value of the licensed marks. Evidence
that Alberto registered, used, or acquiesced in the use of,
non-conforming marks in other countries, intentionally
changed the marks to increase sales, and believes that its
trademarks are strengthened by increased sales is directly
relevant to that claim. Moreover, any potential this evi-
dence may have to mislead can be cured by jury instruc-
tions. If the jury is instructed that both parties’ actions
must be measured by the terms of the license, any temp-
tation it may have lo equate license and ownership rights
or impose an extra-contractual duty on Alberto will be
eliminated.

Alberto also contends that Judge Nolan should have
sustained its objections to evidence regarding: [*7] (1)
the pre-1999 recommendations made to Sunstar by the
designers of the 1999 mark; (2) Sunstar's pre-1999 mar-
ket research as to the attitudes of Japanese consumers
toward the licensed marks; (3) the presentation Sunstar
made to Alberto before 1999 in an effort to obtain Al-
berto's consent for the mark modification; and (4) his-
torical data on the sales of VO3 products in Japan. Spe-
cifically, Alberto says that the Spencer deposition, the
Bernick depousition at 826:10-19, 115:14 to 24, 116:1-11,
the Lloyd deposition at 127:2 to 128:22, and Sunstar
exhibits 15, 18, 22, 36-42, 74 and 34-89 should be ex-
cluded because their admission viclates the Court's mo-
tion in limine rulings and the evidence is irrelevant.

Once again, the Court agrees with Judge Nolan. The
motion in limine rulings to which Alberto refers bar Sun-
star from introducing evidence of the intent underlying
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its decision to use the 1999 mark. Such evidence sheds
no light on the parties’ dispute, the Court ruled, because
the license prohibits Sunstar from infringing Alberto's
marks or taking action likely to lessen their value, re-
gardless of Sunstar's motivation for doing so. Thus, Sun-
star cannat, for example, introduce evidence [*8] that
VO35 sales in Japan were poor in the late 1990s to show
that it had sound business reasons for adopting the 1999
mark.

That does not mean, however, that such evidence is
inadmissible for all purposes. Data on VO3 sales in Ja-
pan before 1999, the reactions of Japanese consumers to
the licensed marks, and the recommendations made by
the designer of the 1999 mark are all relevant to the
"lessening-of-value" issue. Further, any risk that the jury
will consider the evidence for other purposes can be viti-
ated by limiting instructions. Thus, the Court will not
disturb Magistrate Judge Nolan's determination that this
evidence is not barred by the Court's previous ruling and
is relevant to the parties’ ¢laims.

Alberto also says the Magistrate Judge should have
granted its request for judicial notice of the word "may,”
which appears in the license provision Sunstar is alleged
to have breached: "Licensee shall not at any time do, or
cause to be done, any act or deed which will or may in-
fringe, impair or lessen the value or the exclusive right,
title, and interest of [Alberto] in Licensed Trademarks. . .
" (1980 license Agreement § 1V.) Judge Nolan declined
Alberto’s request because she [*9] believed it was un-
necessary no to offer evidence of such a common word.
That was erroneous, Alberto says, because Federal Rule
of Evidence ("Rule™) 201 requires courts to take notice
of adjudicative facts if a party makes the request and
provides the appropriate support.

Rule 201 does, indeed, say that judicial notice is
“mandatory” when a party requests it and supplies the
necessary supporting information. Fed. R. Evid. 201(d).
But facts subject to judicial notice are not exempt from
analysis under the other rules of evidence. See United
Siates v. Falcon 937 F. Supp. 1572, 1585 (S.D. Fla.
1997) ("[W1hile the Rule . . . [says] the court 'shall take
judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with
the necessary information' . . ., a court may refuse to
take judicial notice of facts that are irrelevant to the pro-
ceeding or (in certain contexts) otherwise excludable
under the Federal Rules.” (quoting Rule 201(d}). As a
result, courts refuse to take even "mandatory” judicial
natice when the fact to be noticed is inadmissible under
Rule 403. See, e.g., Guidi v. Inter-Cont'l Hotels Corp.,
2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6385, No. 95 Civ. 9006 (LAP),
2003 WL 1907904, [*10] at *1 n.] (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 16,
2003) ("Because the evidence is excluded under Rule
403, it is not necessary to determine whether. .. Rule 201
otherwise provide[s] for the admissibility of the prof-

fered evidence."); Cipriani v. lLycoming County Hous.
Auth, 177 F. Supp. 2d 303, 326 (M.D. Pa. 2001) ("T . ..
interpret {R]ule 201's mandatory language in clause (d),
as with all evidence, to be subject to Rule 403. And . . .
sven though it doesn't say that in 201 itself, 403 . . . isa
rule that's applicable almast across the board, and the
basis for my ruling. . . is 403."); Knop v. Johnson, 667 F.
Supp. 467, 485 (W.D. Mich. 1987) ( "[J]udicial notice is
an alternative means of proof'that is subject, like all other
offers of evidence, to rule]] 403 ... ."). Magistrate Judge
Nolan concluded that introducing evidence of the defini-
tion of "may” wonld be a pointless exercise and, thus.
she excluded it under Rule 403. That is a sound decision
that we wili not disturb.

Next, Alberto argues that Judge Nolan wrongly ex-
cluded Malcolm Lloyd's deposition testimony at 68:3 to
69:4 and 73:6 to 74:17 as hearsay. In those passages,
Lloyd testifies that sometime [*11] before the 1989 li-
cense modification was executed, he and others told Mr.
Lavin, chairman of Alberto's board of directors, that
Sunstar was using a mark different from those licensed to
it on packages of Alberto products. Lavin's response,
Lloyd testified, was that "{Sunstar] should not be doing
that," a message Lavin subsequently conveyed ic Sunstar
"in no uncertain terms." (Lloyd Dep. at 68:15 to 69:4; see
id at 73:6 to 74:17.) Alberto argues that Lloyd's testi-
mony is admissible because is not offered for the truth of
the matter asserted, i.¢., that Sunstar was not allowed to
use a modified mark, but lo show Alberto's intent regard-
ing the scope of the 1980 license agreement.

Hearsay or not, Sunstar says the evidence is inad-
missible because the belief Lavin expressed about the
terms of the license nearly nine years after it was signed
sheds no light on Alberto's intent at the time the license
agreement was executed. Judge Nolan agreed with Sun-
star and recommended that the testimony be excluded.

This time, we part company with Judge Nolan.
Lavin's belief that the license did not permit Sunstar to
use a modified mark suggests that Alberto’s interpreta-
tion of senyo-shivoken [¥12] was quite different from
Sunstar's. The fact that Lavin made the comment nearly a
decade after the license was executed may diminish its
impact but does not vitiate its relevance. Accordingly,
the Court agrees with Alberto that this testimony is ad-
missible.

Alberto's last objection to Judge Nolan's Order con-
cerns Sunstar's exhibit 22. That exhibit is a memorandum
prepared by an Alberto employee recounting a meeting
between Sunstar and Alberto after Sunstar started using
the 1999 mark. Among other things, the memorandum
says that Alberto "[s}tressed [to Sunstar] our objectives
[sic] how to get back trade mark that we consider core”
and that “[o]bjective (without time) is to get trademark
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(VO3) back to our company." (Sunstar Ex. 22 at
ALBO000446, 453)) Sunstar says those statements are
admissible because they suggest that Alberto's "lessen-
ing-the-value" rhetoric is simply a pretext for it to re-
claim the licensed marks. Judge Nolan agreed.

Alberto says that conclusion is erroneous because
the timing of the statements (they were made after Sun-
star started using the 1999 mark) makes them irrelevant.
This is precisely the argument that Sunstar made, and
this Court rejected, with [*13] respect to Lavin's alleged
comment. The fact that these comments were made after
Supstar introduced the 1999 mark may make them less
compelling, but it does not render them irrelevant. Judge
Nolan properly concluded that Sunstar exhibit 22 is ad-
missible.

Bank One's Objections *

2 The Bank objects to much of the same evi-
dence and on the same grounds as Alberto. Be-
cause those objections arc addressed in the previ-
ous section, in this section the Court will address
only the objections that are unique to the Bank.

The Bank first contends that evidence concerning
Alberto's actions with respect to its trademarks in places
other than Japan -- the Lavin deposition at 79:4-9, the
Lloyd deposition at 144:13 to 143:8, 146:19 to 147:6,
148:6 to 151:8, the Schmidt deposition at 104:14-19,
107:1 to 108:17, and the Shakeshaft deposition at 41:21
to 42:20 and 44:15-24 -- are irrelevant. The Bank says
this evidence, which generally shows that Alberto uses,
or accepts the use of, a variety of nonconforming VO3
[*14] marks, has no bearing on whether Sunstar's use of
the 1999 mark breached the license. Judge Nolan dis-
agreed, and so do we. Evidence that Alberto tolerates
variations in the VO3 mark in places other than Japan
tends to refute its claim that it thought Sunstar's use of
the 1999 mark would lessen the value of the licensed
marks. Moreover, as noted above, any temptation the
jury may have to equate ownership and license rights can
be cured with jury instructions. As a result, we will not
disturb Magistrate Judge Nolan's ruling.

The Bank also objects to the introduction of the
deposition testimony at pages 84:14-22 and 85:7-16 of
Bank employee John Prendiville. In these pages, Pren-
diville testifies that the Bank sent a letter to Sunstar in
1999 suspending its right to use the licensed marks. The
Bank says this evidence is barred by the Court's motion
in limine ruling that Sunstar cannot introduce evidence
challenging the reasonableness of the suspension. Judge
Notlan believed, incorrectly, that the Bank had withdrawn
this objection. Because she did not address it, this Court
will.

Sunstar admits that it is precluded by the Court's
previous ruling from using this evidence to challenge the
[*15] substance of the Bank's decision to suspend the
license. But, it says, the evidence is admissible to show
that the suspension notice was deficient in form, j.e., that
the notice did not contain all of the information required
by suspension provision of the license agreement. In its
amended complaint, however, Sunstar challenges only
the substantive reasonableness of the notice, not its form.
Because Sunstar did not raise this issue until the eve of
trial, it is waived. The Bank's objection is, therefore, sus-
tained.

Lastly, the Bank objects to Judge Nolan's failure to
address its hearsay objections to Sunstar exhibit nos. 15,
36-39, 42 and 74. Exhibits 36-39 are DGA documents
which, as discussed below, arc excluded on other
grounds. Thus, we need not address the hearsay objec-
tron.

Exhibit 42 is a slightly modified version of Sunstar
exhibit 15, the presentation materials Sunstar created to
try to convince Alberto to allow it to use a modified
mark. The Bank did not raise a hearsay objection lo ex-
hibit 15 nor did it argue in the hearing before Judge
Nolan that either exhibit 15 or exhibit 42 is inadmissible
hearsay. (See 6/5/06 Hr'g Tr. at 352-55, 453-55.) By fail-
ing to argue [*16] these hearsay objections to the Magis-
trate Judge, the Bank has waived them.

The Bank similarly waived its hearsay objection to
Sunstar exhibit 74, a chart of VO3 sales from 1966-2001
in Japan. During the hearing before the Magistrate Judge,
the only ground for exclusion the Bank argued was lack
of foundation. (See 6/7/06 Hr'g Tr. at 581-82.) Having
failed to press its hearsay objection before Judge Nolan,
the Bank cannot raise it now.

Sunstar's Objections

Sunstar takes issue with Magistrate Judge Nolan's
conclusion that its exhibit nos. 91-100, which are transla-
tions of Japanese trademark statutes and cases, are inad-
missible. The Court agrees with Judge Nolan, To the
extent these exhibits contain versions of the Japanese
Trademark Law that went into effect after 1980, or cases
that interpret them, they are irrelevant,

To the extent the exhibits pertain to the appropriate
time period, their relevance is outweighed by the risk of
confusion and delay they will create. Both parties have
experts who will opine on the meaning of senyo-
shiyoken, based in part on their knowledge of these ma-
terials, Thus, there is no need for the jurors to review the
materials themselves. [*17] Moreover, if they do, this
group of lay people is likely to misinterpret them. Fur-
ther, because the materials are lengthy and dense, the
jurors' examination of them would needlessly and sub-
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stantially increase their deliberation time. Finally, giving
the docunients to the jurors creates the risk that they will
ignore the testimony introduced by the parties in favor of
their own interpretations of these documents. In short,
we agree with Judge Nolan that Sunstar exhibits 91-100
are inadmissible.

Sunstar's next objection concerns the deposition tes-
timony of Dorothy Spencer. Spencer is a former em-
ployee of DGA, the firm that commissioned the research
into Japanese consumer attitudes toward the licensed
marks, recommended that Sunstar modernize the VO3
logo and designed the 1999 mark. As discussed above,
Magistrate Judge Nolan found that Spencer's testimony is
relevant. But she also said that Spencer could testify only
as an expert, not a lay, witness. Sunstar contends that
conclusion is wrong because Spencer was not hired for
litigation and is offering opinions based on her work
experience and personal involvement in the Sunstar pro-
ject.

Rule 701, which sets the parameters for lay opinion
[*18] testimony, provides:

[f the witness is not testifying as an ex-
pert, the witness' testimony in the form of
opinions or inferences is limited to those
opinions or inferences which are (a) ra-
tionally based on the perception of the
witness, (b) helpful to a clear understand-
ing of the witness' testimony or the deter-
mination of a fact in issue, and {¢) not
based on scientific, technical, or other
specialized knowledge within the scope of
Rule 702.

Fed. R. Evid. 701. The Seventh Circuit has explained the
difference between lay and expert opinion testimony as
follows:
Lay opinion testimony most often takes
the form of a summary of first-hand sen-
sory observations. See Asplundh Mfg. Div.
v. Benton Harbor Eng'g, 57 F.3d 1190,
1196-1202 (3rd Cir. 1995). The opinion
provides the jury with a more complete
picture than would be provided by a reci-
tation of each component fact. "Lay opin-
ion testimony is admissible only to help
the jury or the court to understand the
facts about which the witness is testifying
and not to provide specialized explana-
tions or interpretations that an untrained
layman could not make if perceiving
[¥19] the same acts or events." United
States v. Peoples, 250 F.3d 630, 641 (8th

Cir. 2001). Expert opinion, by contrast,
need not be based on first-hand knowl-
edge of the facts of the case. It brings to
an appraisal of those facts a scientific,
technological or other specialized knowl-
edge that the lay person cannot be ex-
pected to possess.

United States v. Conn, 297 F.3d 548, 554 (7th Cir. 2002)
(footnote omitted). Testimony can fall on the expert side
of the line, our court of appeals has said, even if the wit-
ness was not specifically retained to provide testimony:
Expert testimony is designated as such

by its reliance on "scientific, technical, or

other specialized knowledge." Fed. K.

Evid. 702. QOccurrence witnesses, includ-

ing those providing "lay opinions,” cannot

provide opinions based on scientific,

technical, or other specialized knowledge

within the scope of Rule 702." Fed. R.

Evid. 701. Thus, a treating doctor (or

similarly situated witness} is providing

expert testimony if the testimony consists

of opinions based on "scientific, technical,

or other specialized knowledge” [*20]

regardless of whether those opinions were

formed during the scope of interaction

with a party prior to litigation. Cf O'Con-

ner v. Commonwealth Edison Co., 13

F.3d 1090, 1105 n.14 (7th Cir. 1994) (not-

ing that treating physicians are not exempt

from the requirements of Federal Rules of

Evidence 702 and 703 because "we do not

distinguish the treating physician from

other experts when the treating physician

is offering expert testimony regarding

causation™).

Musser v. Gentiva Health Servs., 336 F.3d 751, 756 n.2
(7th Cir. 2004).

Spencer is like the treating physician discussed in
Musser. If she testifies that DGA was hired by Sunstar
and performed research on its behalf, events that any
layman could also recount, she is a lay witness. But that
is not the kind of testimony Sunstar seeks to present.
Rather, it wants to offer Spencer's testimony about the
conclusions DGA drew from the research and the rec-
ommendations it made to Sunstar as a result, Those are
not subjects about which an untrained layman could
opine. Thus, Spencer is an expert witness.

Alberto & the [*21] Bank's Motion to Bar
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Alberto and the Bank ask the Court to bar Sunstar
from using Spencer's testimony, or that of any other
DGA employee, because Sunstar did not disclose them
as experts. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26 requires
parties to disclose the identities of all expert witnesses in
accordance with the Court's scheduling orders. See Fed.
R. Civ. P. 26(a}(2); Musser, 356 F 3d at 756 (emphasiz-
ing that "all witnesses who are to give expert testimony
under the Federal Rules of Evidence must be disclosed
under Rule 26{(a)(2)(A)"). A party who fails to do so,
"without substantial justification . . . is not, unless such
failure is harmless, permitted to use as evidence at a trial
... any witness or information not so disclosed.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 37(c)(1). Sunstar did not identify Spencer, or any
other DGA witness, as an expert during the discovery
period of this case. Consequently, Sunstar can introduce
her testimony at trial only if there is a substantial justifi-
cation for its failure to disclose or that failure is harm-
less.

Sunstar [*22] says it failed to disclose Spencer be-
cause it viewed her as a lay witness not an expert. Sun-
star’s erroneous interpretation of Rules 701 and 702,
however, is not substantial justification within the mean-
ing of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37. See Musser,
356 F.3d at 758 ("A misunderstanding of the law does
not equate to a substantial justification for failing to
comply with the disclosure deadline.").

The next question is whether Sunstar's failure to dis-
close was harmless. To make that determination, the
Court must consider: "(1) the prejudice or surprise to the
party against whom the evidence is offered; (2) the abil-
ity of the party to cure the prejudice; (3) the likelihood of
disruption to the trial; and (4) the bad faith or willfulness
involved in not disclosing the evidence at an earlier
date." Keach v. US. Trust Co., 419 F.3d 626, 640 (7th
Cir. 2005) (guotation omitted). Sunstar says these factors
militate in favor of allowing Spencer’s testimony to be
introduced because its failure to disclose was innocent
and defendants, who deposed Spencer regarding DGA's
documents, her professional background and [*23] her
work for Sunstar, will suffer no prejudice.

The Court disagrees. Defendants did indeed depose
Spencer, but they did so assuming she was a fact witness,
not an expert. They asked Spencer generally about her
experience but did not conduct the in-depth examination
that is required to determine whether she is qualified to
provide expert testimony. Defendants also did not ask
Spencer whether there is an accepted methodology for
evaluating brand equity and whether DGA used it on the
Sunstar project, nor did they delve into the facts and ra-
tionale underlying DGA's recommendations. Had defen-
dants known Sunstar intended to call Spencer as an ex-
pert, her deposition would have been much different.

Indeed, defendants’ whole discovery plan probably
would have been different if they had known Spencer
would be called as an expert. They would likely have
taken discovery of the firms DGA hired to perform the
Japanese market research and any other DGA employees
involved in the Sunstar project. They may even have
hired a brand equity expert of their own. Their inability
to do so constitutes prejudice for the purposes of Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 37 {*24] . See Musser, 356 F.3d
at 757-58 (stating that defendant was prejudiced by
plaintiffs failure to disclose experts "because there are
countermeasures that could have been taken that are not
applicable to fact witnesses. such as attempting to dis-
qualify the expert testimeny on grounds set forth in
Daubert. . ., retaining rebuttal experts, and holding addi-
tional depositions to retrieve the information not avail-
able because of the absence of a report.™).

Moreover, because Spencer would testify via depo-
sition, not in person, Alberto and the Bank could not cure
this prejudice through cross-examination. The only other
way the prejudice could be cured is by delaying the trial
and reopening discovery, an untenable solution given the
age of this case and its impending trial date.

In short, Sunstar has not shown that its failure to
disclose Spencer as an expert was either substantially
justified or harmless. Therefore, it may not introduce at
trial her testimony, or that of any other DGA witness, or
Sunstar exhibits 36-41, which depend on her testimony.

Sunstar's Motion to Bar Alberto's Damage Evi-
dence

Sunstar has filed a motion styled "Motion to Declare
[¥25] that Alberto May Not Proceed at the Trial with
Any Claim Against Sunstar for Damages.” To the extent
Sunstar is seeking judgment with respect to damages, as
the title of its motion suggests, the motion is denied. The
Court will not entertain a summary judgment motion at
this late date.

Sunstar fares no better if we construe the motion as
one to bar Alberto from presenting any reasonable roy-
alty evidence at trial. Sunstar says such evidence should
be barred because: (1) Alberto's rovalty evidence is
based solely on the royalty rate in the parties’ 1989
agreement, which the Court previously ruled could not
be used as a basis for a royally in this case; and (2} it is
too late for Alberto to advance any other theory of dam-
ages.

The latter contention is true but immaterial. The
only damage theory Alberto seeks to pursue is the one it
has disclosed: a reasonable royalty.

The first contention is no more persuasive. Alberto's
damages expert, Aron Levko, used the royalty rate from
the 1989 agreement as a basis for his reasonable royalty
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calculation. Thus, as Alberto acknowledges, he cannot
testify about that calculation. But Levko does more in his
report than calculate the present day value [*26] of the
1989 rate. He also explains the assumptions underlying
his calculations, including that: (1) Sunstar would have
been willing to pay a substantial amount for a license in
1999 because it viewed the redesigned mark as crucial to
its business and had already invested heavily in it, (2)
Alberto would have demanded a significant royalty rate
in 1999 because the company was, at that point, focused
on consistency in its global brand; (3) a royalty in the
form of an annual payment is appropriate; (4) to calcu-
late the royalty rate, it is appropriate to enhance a prior
royally rate for a license of similar scope by the percent-
age rise in the Consumer Price Index for hair care prod-
ucts between the year of the benchmark and 1999; and
(5) it is appropriate to assume, for the purpose of calcu-
lating prejudgment interest, that Alberto would have
used the royalty payments to pay down existing debt.
Nane of this testimony is barred by the Court's order.

Moreover, Levko's report shows that, among other
things, he reviewed 1999 correspondence between Sun-
star’s Saegusa and Radding and Alberto's Schmidt in
which they discussed prices for Alberto's possible pur-
chase of the Japanese V05 marks. Schmidt [*27] is
listed as a possible witness in the revised pre-trial order
by both Alberto and the Bank. If Schmidt testifies about
the prices the parties discussed in 1999, Levko could,
given his expertise in valuing and licensing intellectual
property, testify about the reasonableness of those prices,

In short, Levko cannot testify about the calculation
he performed using the 1989 royalty rate as a benchmark
or about a different calculation not disclosed in his re-
port. But he can give testimony about the overall process
of determining a reasonable royalty rate, his apinions
about the parties' positions relative to a hypothetical li-
cense negotiation in 1999, and, to the extent such evi-
dence is introduced, the reasonableness of any monetary

value the parties placed on the contested marks at or be-
fore 1999. Taken together, that evidence -- which may be
just a portion of what is available to Alberto -- is a suffi-
cient basis for Alberto to argue its reasonable royalty
claim to the jury. See Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. U.S. Ply-
wood Corp., 318 F. Supp. 1116, 1120 (S.D.N.Y. 1970)
(seminal case on reasonable royalty, stating that expert
testimony is one of many factors that is “relevant, [*28]
in general, to [determining] the amount of a reasonable
royalty,” not a prerequisite to doing so), modified, Geor-
gia--Pacific Corp. v. U. §. Phwood--Champion Papers,
Inc., 446 F.2d 295 (2d Cir. 1971 ). Sunstar's motion to
bar Alberto from presenting any reasonable royalty evi-
dence at trial is denied.

Coenclusion

For the reasons set forth above, the parties’ objec-
tions to Magistrate Judge Nolan's Order are, in all but
two respects, overruled. The Court sets aside Judge
Nolan's determinations that Malcolm Lloyd's deposition
testimony at 68:3 to 6%:4 and 73:6 to 74:17 is inadmissi-
ble hearsay, and that the Bank withdrew its cbjection to
the admissibility of John Prendiville's deposition testi-
mony at 84:14-22 and 85:7-16. In all other respects, the
Court adopts Judge Nolan's Order. The Court grants the
motions of Alberto and the Bank [doc. nos. 337 & 343]
to bar Sunstar from presenting testimony from Spencer,
or any other DGA witness, and related exhibits. The
Court denies Sunstar's motion to bar Alberto from intro-
ducing damages evidence [doc. no. 333].

SO ORDERED.
ENTERED: 11/16/06

HON. RONALD A. GUZMAN
United States District [*29] Judge
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MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

ZAGEL, J.

*] This is a copyright and trademark infringement
suit brought by Ty, Inc. (“Ty”) against Publications
International, Ltd. (“PIL™), in connection with PIL's
publication and sale of books featuring Ty's Beanie
Babies plush toys. Before me are PIL's Motion for
Reconsideration, or, in the Alternative, to Strike and
its Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to
Take Discovery Against Counsel for PIL.

Motion for Reconsideration

On QOctober 22, 1999, Ty served its first discovery
requests on PIL, including Interrogatory 8: “Identify
each person, including but not limited to expert wit-
nesses, having knowledge of discoverable matters
who may be called by you to testify as a witness at
trial, and for each such person ... please state what
you anticipate to be the substance of said persan's
testimony at trial.”Ty also served Interrogatory No. 9
in which it asked PIL to “[s]pecify the facts and wit-
nesses with knowledge of the facts supporting the

affirmative defense to the Complaint in this ac-
tion.”In response to hoth interrogatories, PIL named
six individuals,

At the request of both parties, an expedited eight-
week discovery period was scheduled with a cutoff
date of May 2, 2000. Neither party requested a dis-
covery extension, and discovery did indeed close on
May 2. Two months thereafter, Ty moved for sum-
mary judgment in connection with its copyright and
trademark related claims, which T granted as to the
copyright claims but denied as to the trademark
claims. Ty then moved for summary judgment for
monetary relief as to its copyright claim, which 1
granted and subsequently entered final judgment on
the claim under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

34(b).

PIL appeaied both summary judgment rulings, and
the Seventh Circuit reversed. Ty, fnc. v. Publications
fntl Lid, 292 F3d 512 (7th Cir2002), cert.
den., 537 U.S. 1110, 123 S.Ct. 892, 154 L.Ed.2d 783
(2003). Rehearing and rehearing en banc were denied
by the Court on July 11, 2002, and Ty's Petition for
Certiorari before the U.S. Supreme Court was denied
on January 13, 2003. Tv. [ne. v. Publications Int'l,
Led, 537 US. 1110, 123 S.Ct. 892, 154 L.Ed.2d 783
(2003). On February 3, 2003, PIL served supplemen-
tal interrogatory responses, identifying 14 new per-
sons with information relevant to PIL's defenses and
who may be called upon at trial, none of which were
included in its responses to Interrogatories No. 8 and
9 while discovery was open.mOn June 5, 2003, T
struck the 14 additional witnesses from PIL's sup-
plementary interrogatory responses-and its ability to
call these witnesses at trial-on the ground that PIL
had failed to supplement its interrogatory response as
required by Rule 26 and that Rule 37 sanctions were
therefore justified. Ty, Inc. v. Publications Int'l, Lid.,
No. 99 C 5565, 2003 WL 21294667, at *7 (N.D.I{lL
June 4, 2003). P11, now moves for reconsideration of
that decision.

FNI. The supplemental response itself
named 15 additional trial witnesses, but one
of them, Scott Rogers, was identified and
deposed during discovery, so Ty has no ob-
jection to PIL's naming him as a potential

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Warks.
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trial witness.

PIL first argues that it should be permitted to amend
its witness list because a party is not required to iden-
tify trial witnesses until the pretrial conference. See
Hottenstein v. Burlington N. RR Co., No. 96 C
8616, 1998 WL 378429 (N.D.IH. July 1. 1998) (deny-
ing motion to preclude witnesses disclosed after close
of discovery because “a party is not required to iden-
tify trial witnesses until the pretrial order.”); Kedzior
v Talman Home Fed Sav. & Loan Ass'n of lllinols,
No. 89 C 4188, 1990 WL 70855, at *7 (N.D NI, May
10, 1990) (“the better and more widely adopted rule
is that it is inappropriate to expect counsel to provide
this information until the pretrial conference.”).
While this is so, the problem with PIL's amendments
is that the individuals it seeks to add were never iden-
tified during discovery as persons having relevant
knowledge to the issues in this case, despite Ty's in-
terrogatories seeking this information. Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 26 requires a party to provide
other parties with “the names and, if known, the ad-
dresses and telephone number of each individual
likely to have discoverable information that the dis-
closing party may use to support its claims or de-
fenses ..., identifying the subjects of the informa-
tion."Fed R.Civ.P. 26(a)(1)(A).Rule 26 also requires
a party to supplement or amend its disclosures and
discovery responses if it learns that the information
disclosed or the response is “incomplete or incorrect
and if the additional corrective information has not
otherwise been made known to the other parties dur-
ing the discovery process of in writing.”Fed.R.Civ.P.
26(e)(1). The purpose of supplementary discovery s
to prevent trial by ambush.” Heidelberg Harris, Inc.
v. Mitsubishi Heavy_Indus., Ltd, No. 95 C_0673.
1996 WL 680243, at *8 (N.D. 11l. Nov 21, 1996).“Ifa
party is allowed to withhold the supplementation of
its discovery responses until after fact discovery is
closed, the purpose of [Rule 26] is effectively frus-
trated because the opposing party is denied the op-
portunity to conduct discovery on the supplemental
responses.”/d. Therefore, it is not PIL's belated iden-
tification of trial witnesses, but rather its belated
identification of people with knowledge relevant to
the issues in this case, in violation of Rule 26, to
which Ty objects.

*3 PIL further argues that even if it did violate Rule
26, 1 failed to engage in the requisite analysis in de-
termining to impose exclusion under Rule 37. The

rule provides that “[a] party that without substantial
justification fails to disclose information required by
Rule 26(a) or 26(e)(1}... is not, unless such failure is
harmless, permitted to use as evidence at a trial ...
any witness or information not so  dis-
closed."Fed.R.Civ.P._37(c)(1).“The fundamental pur-
pose of Rule 37 is to ensure that the merits of the
case can be addressed at trial without any party suf-
fering prejudice as a result of nonfeasance or malfea-
sance during discovery.” Weiland v. Linear Constr.,
Lid. No. 00 C 6172, 2002 W, 31307622, at *2 {N.D,
111 Oct 15, 2002), The Seventh Circuit has stated that
“the sanction of exclusion is automatic and manda-
tory unless the sanctioned party can show that its
violation of Rule 26(a) was either justified or harm-
less.” Salgado v. Gen. Motors Corp., 150 F.3d 735,
742 (7th_Cir.1998). However, the Court has also
stated that “[t]he determination of whether a Rule
26(a) violation is justified or harmless is entrusted to
the broad discretion of the district court.” Mid-
America Tablewares, Inc. v.. Mogi Trading Co.. Ltd,
100 F.3d 1353, 1363 (7th Cir.1996), see also
Saleado, 150 F.3d at 739. “A district court need not
make explicit findings concerning the existence of a
substantial justification ot the harmlessness of a fail-
ure to disclose.” David v. Caterpifiar, Inc., 324 ¥.3d
851, 857 (7th_Cir.2003). However, “the following
factors should guide the district court's discretion: (1)
the prejudice or surprise to the party against whom
the evidence is offered; (2) the ability of the party to
cure the prejudice; (3) the likelihood of disruption to
the trial; and (4) the bad faith or willfulness involved
in not disclosing the evidence at an earlier date.” [d.
at 837.

Tn connection with my earlier ruling, 1 found that
PIL's failure to supplement its interrogatory response
as required by Rule 26 was unjustified:

PIL's proffered justification for supplementing its
witness list at this late stage is the alleged “rela-
tively late production” of key documents relating to
Ty's misuse, the same justification offered above
for additional merits discovery. Although parties
may supplement relevant discovery responses with
documents and information that has become avail-
able since the close of discovery, it has been
clearly established, as discussed above, that PIL
had access to the documents from which it derived
these fourteen proposed witnesses for three weeks
prior to the close of discovery. However, PIL did
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not name these additional witnesses before the May
2, 2000 cutoff, Furthermore, PIL made no attempt
to supplement their responses by naming these wit-
nesses during the two months between the close of
discovery and the filing of Ty's summary judgment
motion. As with its request for additional merits
discovery, PIL chose not to name these fourteen
witnesses when discovery was open or shortly
thereafter. Because PIL has offered no explanation,
let alone a reasonable one, as to why it did not do
s0, 1 am striking the fourteen new witnesses from
its responses.

*3 7y fnc, 2003 WL 21294667, at *7. T explained

PIL's failure to take discovery as follows:
The fact of the matter is that PIL chose not to ex-
plore these issues when discovery was open. It is
inexplicable why PIL did not take whatever dis-
covery it needed in this regard when it had the
chance. Any alleged shortcoming is the result of its
own calculated decision not to pursue the defense
in discovery.... I can infer-and I do infer-that in all
likelihood, counsel for PIL made a strategic deci-
sion, just as any lawyer makes strategic decisions,
to explore other issues at the expense of leaving the
misuse defense undeveloped. 1 suspect that the
value of the defense may not have been fully ap-
parent to PIL until Judge Posner hinted that a mis-
leading statement in Ty's standard copyright li-
censes “might constitute copyright misuse, endan-
gering Ty's copyrights.” Ty, Inc.. 292 F.3d at 520.
Alternatively, it may weltl have been that PIL in-
tended to raise this defense, as it now asserts, but
that it did not need discovery in order to do so. In
any event, PIL has made their bed, and Ty is enti-
tied to have them lie in if.

Jd. at 7, 7 n. 6. Accordingly, I rejected PIL's claim
that its late disclosure was justified because of Ty's
allegedly late production of the documents. The best
explanation for PIL's failure comes from its own
brief:
In a perfect world PIL would have been able to re-
view the documents, develop a strategy, identify
the witnesses and amend the answers within the
three weeks left in discovery or the two months
thereafter before the parties became locked in the
summary judgment proceedings. Unfortunately,
PIL was at the time represented by two small-firm
practitioners, dwarfed by Ty's large-firm team, and
was unable to do so.

While this may be true, it unequivocally reveals that
PIL's failure was its own doing,.

Along with the lack of justification, allowing the new
trial witnesses to testify-with discovery now closed-
would prejudice Ty. Two of the named wiinesses are
Ty's trial attorneys and have been from the onset of
this case. Compelling them to testify against their
own client would prejudice Ty at this late stage. Even
accepting PIL's offer to not seek disqualification of
the attorneys, forcing them to testify against their
own client is against public policy, as explained by
the Seventh Circuit:

The roles of attorney and witness are usually in-
compatible. A witness is supposed to present the
facts without a slant, while an attorney's job is to
advocate a partisan view of the significance of the
facts. One person trying to do beth is apt to be a
poor witness, a poor advocate, or both.

Gusman v. Unisys Corp,, 986 F.2d 1146, 1148 (7th
Cir.1993Y; see also United States v. McCorkle, No.
93 C 6528, 1994 W1, 317702, at *3 (N.D [I1. June 23,
1994) (“There is a strang policy against allowing
lawyers to also act as witnesses.”). While it may be
true that documents involving the attorneys may be
offered into evidence by PIL at trial, that is very dif-
ferent from forcing them to take the witness stand
against their own client.

*4 Regarding the remaining witnesses, Ty has not
had the opportunity to depose them or otherwise de-
velop evidence to contest their anticipated testimony.
See Scramton_ Gillete  Communications. Inc. v,
Dannhausen, No. 96 C 8353, 1998 WL 566668
N.DIIL Aug26, 1998) (precluding plaintiff from
presenting trial witnesses not disclosed until the filing
of the pretrial order because allowing them to testify
would be unfair to defendants); Bovinton v. Monarch.
Ng, 92 C 140, 1994 WL 463905 (N.D.IU. Aug.25,
1994) (it would constitute unfair surprise to the de-
fendant to admit the testimony of a witness plaintiff
disclosed only in the pretrial order-and not in sup-
plemental answers to interrogatories-because defen-
dant had no opportunity to depose the witness). Ty
should not be put in the position of having to scram-
ble to track down these individuals to see what they
may say if called to testify, and then prepare rebuttal
evidence or testimony, when it should be focusing its
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resources on preparing for trial. PIL claims that Ty
can “hardly be prejudiced or surprised” because the
identity of the witnesses was obtained from Ty's own
document production.ml{owever, merely because
the names of these witnesses appeared, among hun-
dreds of other names, somewhere in the thousands of
pages of documents produced by Ty, does not mean
that Ty should have anticipated that PIL would call
these individuals as trial witnesses and deposed them
accordingly. See Boymion, 1994 WL 463905 (plain-
tiff could not name trial witnesses who were not dis-
closed during discovery even if the witnesses' names
appeared on documents produced by defense because
the mere appearance of the names on documents pro-
duced did not give defendant sufficient knowledge of
the witnesses' relevance to the case prior to the close
of discovery, and allowing the witness to testify
would constitute “unfair surprise” to the plaintiff);
United States v.2016 N. 77th Court, No. 91 C 7753,
1993 U.S. Dist. LEXTS 2523, at *14 (N.D.11l. March
3, 1993) (recommending that court reject govern-
ment's claim that it should be permitted to call certain
witnesses at trial notwithstanding that it had not iden-
tified these witnesses in response to an interrogatory,
because the government produced documents that
revealed the “existence and knowledge of these per-
sons; the mere production of documents did not sat-
isfy the government's discovery obligations).

FN2. PIL additionally claims that with re-
spect to new witness Ty Warner, it had spe-
cifically identified Warner as someone who
it wanted to depose during discovery. While
this may be true, the fact remains that the
aforementioned deposition was never taken.
More importantly, Ty Wamer-just like the
other new witnesses-was never identified,
either initially or as a supplement before the
close of discovery, in PIL's Interrogatory
No. & or 9.

PIL also asserts that if there is any prejudice to Ty, it
can be cured by Ty “pick[ing] up the phone” to see
how these witnesses will testify because each of the
new witnesses has some type of relationship with Ty.
Apart from being pure speculation, such a remedy
might well be of no value to Ty for purposes of im-
peachment at trial. More importantly, the assertion
that ecach witness is somehow in Ty's cantrol is sim-
ply not true. Although some of the named individuals
may have, at one time, been employees of Ty's for-

mer licensees, the licenses between Ty and these li-
censees have since expired or been terminated, so
there is no “relationship” between Ty and any of the
non-trial counsel individuals. As a final assertion,
PiL claims that any prejudice could also be cured by
reopening discovery to allow Ty to depose the new
witnesses. However, we are well past the discovery
cutoff in this case, and I will not permit PIL to use
the new witness designations as a backdoor method
for reopening discovery. See Great-West Life & An-
nuity Ins. Co. v. Weisz Michling Hofman, P.C.. No.
01 C 2470, 2002 WL 1067707 (N.D.[Il. March 23,
2002) (denying defendants’ maotion to reopen discov-
ery because defendants did not see fit to conduct re-
quested discovery before close of discovery). Ac-
cordingly, T find that any prejudice to Ty cannot be
cured or that if it can be cured, it can be done so only
at great expense to Ty. Therefore, 1 deny PIL's mo-
tion seeking reconsideration of my deeision to pre-
clude it from naming the aforementioned fourteen
witnesses.

Alternative Motion to Strike

*5 In the event that [ uphold my pricr ruling striking
PIL's amendments-which 1 do-PIL asks that T also
strike the amended interrogatory responses recently
served by Ty identifying its trial witnesses. As back-
ground, on March 7, 2000, PIL served its second in-
terrogatories on Ty, including Interrogatory 15:
“State the name, address and telephone number of
each person Plaintiff intends to call as a witness at
the trial of this case, and the subject matter of the
testimony to be given by that individual.”On March
17, 2000, when discovery was still ongoing, Ty re-
sponded that it “has not yet identified the witnesses it
intends to call at trial.”On September 16, 2003, Ty
filed its Supplemental Response to PIL's Interroga-
tory No. 15 identifying six individuals whom it ex-
pected to call as trial witnesses. Ty claims that it did
not disclose the identity of these witnesses until this
date because it did not determine whe it would call as
trial witnesses until then.

PIL argues that for the same reasons for which I have
struck its supplemental responses, [ should also strike
Ty's supplemental responses. However, there is a
material difference between the six witnesses dis-
closed by Ty and the fourteen witnesses disclosed by
PIL. All of Ty's witnesses were identified as persons
with relevant knowledge, either by PIL or by Ty, and
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were deposed by the parties during discovery. In
other words, there was no Rule 26 violation. PIL
cannot reasonably claim that it did not know about
the potential for these six individuals to be designated
as witnesses. Therefore, PIL will suffer no harm or
surprise as a result of Ty's supplementation. Rather,
PIL's only viable claim is one of timing-that Ty has
somehow acted in bad faith by never attempting to
answer during discovery PIL's Interrogatory No. 15
seeking the identity of Ty's trial witnesses and by
waiting seven months afier the return of jurisdiction
to this Court before doing so. However, although
there is no absolute prohibition on interrogatories
seeking identification of trial witnesses, such infor-
mation “is not typically divulged during the discov-
ery stage of a trial.” Kedzior, 1990 WL, 70855, at *7.
Instead, “the better and more widely adopted rule is
that it is inappropriate to expect counsel to provide
this information until the pretrial conference.”/d. at
*7_ Accordingly, the timing of this disclosure is not
an appropriate basis, by itself, to strike these wit-
nesses.

Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Take
Discovery Against Counsel for PIL

In the fall of 2003, Ty discovered that in approxi-
mately August of 2003, Judge Richard A. Posner-the
author on appeal in this case concerning the issue of
copyright fair use-wrote an unpublished article enti-
tled “Fair Use and Statutory Reform in the Wake of
Eldred,” which was written with William F. Patry,
counsel for PIL. Accordingly, Ty moved to take lim-
ited discovery against Patry concerning the drafting
of the foregoing article and his dealings with Judge
Posner. At the November 20, 2003 status hearing, 1
suggested that there were two areas appropriate for
inquiry: (1) whether Patry made representations to
others about the article or about the work he was do-
ing with Judge Posner, except any representations he
made to his own client; and (2) whether the article in
any way, even in its draft forms, touched upon the
precise issue which was raised in the appeal in this
case. On December 2, Ty wrote to Patry requesting
the aforementioned discovery along with additional
information beyond the scope of what I found to be
reasonable. Patry responded on December 16 by pro-
viding answers to the two areas suggested at the No-
vember 20 status and to some areas beyond the scope
of those suggestions and by simultaneously moving
to strike Ty's motion seeking discovery against Patry.

Ags it prepared its opposition te PIL's motion to strike,
Ty submitted another request seeking more informa-
tion beyond the scope of my November 20 sugges-
tions. Patry responded on January 8, 2004 by noting
his continued objection to this line of discovery but
nonetheless providing some more information. In its
January 16 opposition to the motion to strike, Ty re-
quested that [ require Party to disclose two more
categories of information: (1) whether he and Judge
Posner are still collaborating on the Article and
whether there is any plan for future collaboration
between the two; and (2) correspondence between the
two, whether in electronic or other form.

*6 In response to the motion at hand, I find that Patry
has now given more information than | said was rea-
sonable on November 20. This is certainly encugh
information for Ty, if it should so choose, to file ei-
ther a motion to recuse Judge Posner in the Seventh
Circuit or a complaint under the Rules of the Judicial
Council of the Seventh Circuit Governing Com-
plaints of Judicial Misconduct or Disability. Accord-
ingly, 1 see no reason for further inquiry."™

FN3. This case demonstrates that lack of ci-
vility does not always occur from lawyers
who fear they will come up short on the law.
White moved for limited discovery relating
to Patry's relationship with Judge Posner on
the ground that “[s]uch information is rele-
vant and may be essential in the event Ty
later deems it necessary to file a motion in
the Court of Appeals concerning Judge Pos-
ner's continued involvement in this
case.”Patry had the better argument on this
issue but he ought to reconsider his rhetoric.
In response, he wrote in part:

... The Court should summarily dismiss
Plaintiff's frivolous, efhically challenged
motion....

.. Ty, although raising the gravest type of
allegations that can be made against a
judge, cowardly does so only by implica-
tion ... Like Senator McCarthv's lists, Ty
will not say what they think the impropri-
ety is ... [Tyl lacks the courage and the
ethical compass to do so. Instead they are
misusing this Cowrt in an unseemly effort
to besmirch blameless reputations.
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_..Since Tylacks the courage to state what
the alleged misconduct is, we are, of
course, left to conjecture.

... T am deeply disgusted by the nature and
manner of the accusations Ty's counsel in-
fer (since they lack the courage of stating
them)./# is a new low even for them.... Ty
chose to file a sneak attack... inferring the
gravest violations of ethical canons. Such
behavior simply cannot be countenanced.

. The motion should be denied summa-
rily and PIL should be awarded all attor-
ney's fees and costs in having to reply to
such a regrettable breach of procedure
and common decency, unsupported by any
valid legal or factual basis.

(emphasis added). The passages I have
emphasized have no place in legai dis-
course. Patry should learn to hold his
thunder until he is actually accused of
some form of wrongdoing and, even then,
ought to be far more careful. Insofar as he
thought he was defending an excellent
judge, it does no service to Judge Posner
(who needed no defenders) to have a sim-
ple, neutral question in this court's record
characterized as an accusation of the
“gravest type.”

For the reasons above, PIL's Motion for Reconsidera-
tion or, in the Alternative, to Strike and its Motion to
Strike Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Take Discovery
Against Counsel for PIL are DENIED.

N.D.I11.,2004.

Ty, Inc. v. Publications Intern., Ltd.

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2004 WL 421984
(N.D.I11.), 2004 Copr.L.Dec. P 28,768

END OF DOCUMENT

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.



Case: 1:02-cv-05893 Document #: 1315 Filed: 01/30/09 Page 32 of 36 PagelD #:29715

TABF



Case: 1:02-cv-05893 Document #: 1315 Filed: 01/30/09 Page 33 of 36 PagelD #:29716

@ LoxisNexis’

Page 1

LEXSEE 2007 U.S. DIST. LEXIS 27089

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, vs. LINDA L. DUNN and DJANE K.
CALLAHAN, personal representatives of the Estate of Harry J. Vernetti, Defen-
dants.

Case No, 04 C 50472

UNITED STATES DISTRICY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
ILLINOIS, WESTERN DIVISION

2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27089; 99 A.F.T.R.2d (RIA) 2205

April 12, 2007, Decided

COUNSEL: [*1] For United States of America, Plain-
tifft. Philip Doyle, LEAD ATTORNEY, Stephen A
Sherman, U.S. Department of Justice, Tax Division,
Washington, DC; Heather L. Richtarcsik, United States
Department of Justice, Tax Division, Washington, DC.

For Linda L Dunn, Personal representative of the Estate
of Harry J Vernetti, Diane K Callahan, Personal repre-
sentative of the Estate of Harry J Vernetti, Defendants:
Michael H, Moss, LEAD ATTORNEY, Attommey at Law,
Park Ridge, IL; Bradley T. Koch, Kim Marie Casey,
Holmstrom & Kennedy, Rockford, TL; Eugene G. Do-
herty, Holmstrom & Kennedy, P.C., Rockford, IL.

JUBGES: P. MICHAEL MAHONEY, MAGISTRATE
JUDGE.

OPINION BY: P. MICHAEL MAHONEY
OPINION

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

On January 31, 2007, Plaintiff filed its Motion for an
Order to Preclude Evidence Regarding a New Defense
Theory and the Testimony of Certain Witnesses, which is
the subject of this order. For the following reasons,
Plaintiff's Motion is granted in part.

I. Intraduction:

This case concerns the government's effort to obtain
a judgment under 26 U.S.C. § 6672 against the Estate of
Harry J. Vernetti for his failure to collect, account for
and pay over to [*2] the IRS, income and FICA contri-

butions due from employees of Vernetti's Mid-State's
Construction Systems Corporation. In addition to seeking
to preclude the defense from using any evidence of Harry
Vernetti's purported cognitive problems, Plaintiffs mo-
tion originally sought to bar the testimony of Defendants,
Linda Dunn and Diane Callahan. Plaintiff has since
withdrawn the portion of its Motion which sought to bar
Dunn and Callahan's testimony. See Plaintiff's Reply, §
I11. The following outline of events is provided to place
the remaining dispute in conftext.

I1. Background:

September 24, 2004, Plaintiff brought this case in
the United States District Court, Middle District of Flor-
ida, due to the fact that Harry Vernetti's will was being
probated in that state. On November 29, 2004, Defen-
danis filed an answer which failed te raise Harry Ver-
netti's cognitive problems as an affirmative defense. On
December 1, 2004, venue of the case was transferred to
the Northern District of Illinois, Western Division.

On March 18, 2005, Defendants made their initial
disclosures pursuant to Fed R.Civ.P. 26(a)(1). Nothing in
these disclosures addressed Harry Vernetti's cognitive
problems. [*3] On March 22, 2005, the parties submit-
ted their Joint Status Report. The Joint Status Report
characterized the principal factual issues in the case as
Harry Vernetti's knowledge about the unpaid taxes, the
actions he took, and the relationship he held with the
corporation, Nothing in the Joint Status Report con-
cerned the cognitive problems of Harry Vernetti,

On June 10, 2005, the Plaintiff served written dis-
covery requests upon the Defendants, consisting of re-
quests to admit, interrogatories and document requests.
None of Defendants' responses addressed Harry Ver-



Case: 1:02-cv-05893 Document #: 1315 Filed: 01/30/09 Page 34 of 36 PagelD #:29717

Page 2

2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27089, *; 99 A.F.T.R.2d (RIA) 2205

netti's cognitive problems. Defendants preferred instead
to support their claim that Harry was not responsible for
the underlying offense by pointing out that he had sold
his business to his son, Phillip Vernetti, and had retired
to Florida by the time the alleged violations took place.

However, during the deposition of Phillip Vernetti
{Harry's son) on February 21, 2006, Harry Vernetti's
cognitive problems were brought up. During his deposi-
tion, Phillip stated that his father Harry "wasn't always
coherent” during the last two to four years of his life, and
that Phillip was "concerned about dementia,” which he
discussed with [*4] his sisters, Linda Dunn and Diane
Callahan. Exhibit A to Defendants' Respense at 195, 209.
Phillip's brief menticn of Harry's possible dementia was
the first time the issue had been brought to the attention
of the Plaintiff.

Harry Vernetti's cognitive problems were again
brought up, this time by Defendants in the context of
settlement negotiations, A letter from Defense counsel to
Plaintiff's counsel dated October 3, 2006, states:

there is another potentially significant
defense of which we have just become
aware and intend to further investigate
and pursue which can be summarized as
follows: Harry Vernetti was diagnosed
with a brain tumor in September, 2003; he
passed away in December, 2003. We have
been informed by several persons, includ-
ing Harry's prior counsel . . . who will at-
test that Harry may have had cognitive
problems long prior to September, 2003.
In fact, in early 2002 (prior to Harry's
knowledge of liability), his daughter con-
tacted Harry's physician to inform him of
her concerns about Harry's mental and
physical well-being. These facts would
surely serve to explain Harry's inability
and resulting failure to promptly respond
upon being informed of the potential [*5]
liability for unpaid employment taxes.

Exhibit 4 to Plaintiff's Reply. No individuals are identi-
fied in this part of the letter, nor are their telephone num-
bers and addresses disclosed as required under Rule
26¢a). Then on Qctober 20, 2006, Defendants motioned
for and the court granted an extension of the fact discov-
ery cut-off date from October 31, 2006, to December 29,
2006, due to ongoing settlement discussions. However,
the defense did not raise their investigation of Mr, Ver-
netti's afleged cognitive problems in justification of the
desired extension of fact discovery.

In light of Phillip Vemnetti's deposition testimony
from February 21, 2006, and the settlement letter from
October 3, 2006, it is clear that the Defendants possessed
some knowledge of Harry's cognitive problems in ad-
vance of the fact discovery cut-off date of December 29,
2006. Yet Defendants did not supplement their 26¢a)(])
disclosures until the very last day of fact discovery. The
supplemental disclosure provided on December 29,
2006, identified for the first time witnesses expected to
provide testimony concerning Harry's cognitive prob-
lems, Witnesses such as Michael Dunn (Linda Dunn's
husband), Carol [*6] Shumaker and Thomas Laughlin
had not been identified by the Defendants prior to this
point. Defendants’ supplemental disclosure also identi-
fied two doctors, Richard Nora and Bernard O'Malley,
who treated Harry Vernetti. These doctors were identi-
fied as both expert and fact witnesses.

I11. Discussion:

A. Whether Defendants Must Have Pled Mr. Ver-
netti's Cognitive Problems, if at all, as an Affirmative
Defense Under Rule 8 ©:

The parties contest whether the Defendants’ use of
Mr. Vernetti's cognitive problems constitutes an affirma-
tive defense under Rule 8 ©. Under Rufe § ©, "[in
pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth
affirmatively accord and satisfaction, arbitration and
award, assumption of risk, contributory negligence, dis-
charge in bankruptcy, duress, estoppel, failure of constd-
eration, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches,
license, payment, release, res judicata, statute of frauds,
statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matier con-
stituting  an  avoidance or  gffirmative  defense.”
Fed R.Civ.P. 8 © (emphasis added). "The goal of this
requirement, consistent with federal practice generally, is
to provide notice to the [*7] opponent, aveid surprise
and undue prejudice, and afford the opponent a chance to
argue, if able, why the defense is unfounded.” Steven
Baicker-McKee, William M. Janssen, and John B. Corr,
Federal Civil Rules Handbook, 289-90 (2007 ed.) (foot-
note omitted).

Generally, the failure to plead an affirmative defense
as required by Rule § © results in the waiver of that de-
fense. See Il Conférence of Teamsters and Employers
Welfare Fund v. Steve Gilbert Trucking, 71 F.3d 136],
1365 (7th Cir. 1995). However, the court "has the discre-
tion to allow an answer to be amended to assert an af-
firmative defense not raised initially." Jackson v. Rock-
ford Housing Auth, 213 F.3d 389, 392 (7th Cir. 2000)
(citing Fed R Civ.P. [5{q) which states that "leave [to
amend] shall be freely given when justice so requires”).

In order to find personal Hability for unpaid with-
holding taxes under 26 U.S.C. § 6672, two elements must
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be present: 1) the defendant must be a person responsible
for the collection and payment of withholding taxes; and,
2) the defendant's failure to comply with the statute must
be willful. /.S, v. Landau, 155 F.3d 93, 100 (2d Cir.
1998). [*8} "Willful action has been defined as volun-
tary, conscious and intentional-- as opposed to acciden-
tal-- decisions not to remit funds properly withheld to the
government." fd. (quotations omitted). An individual
against whom the IRS has made a § 6672(u) assessment
has the burden of proving by a preponderance of evi-
dence that one or both of the elements of liability under
that section is absent. Jd.

Defendants seek to use Mr. Vernetti's cognitive
problems to directly refute the second required element,
that his failure to pay over the withheld taxes was willful.
As such, Defendants claim this evidence is not used as an
affirmative defense. Rather it is characterized as a direct
attack on a required element of Plaintiff's claim, that the
failure to pay was willful.

Plaintiff claims, without citation to any legal author-
ity in support, that Defendants have waived the mental
competence issue by failing to assert it as an affirmative
defense in their Answer to the Complaint. Assuming
arguendo that Mr. Vernetti's cognitive problems do con-
stitute an affirmative defense, the court would neverthe-
less allow Defendants to pursue this defensive strategy
despite their failure to plead [*9] it pursuant to Rule 8 ©.
No trial date or pretrial conference date has been sct, the
parties have yet to file any motions for summary judge-
ment, and Rule 15 provides a very liberal standard for the
amendment of pleadings.

B. Precluding the Use of Evidence as a Sanction
Under Rule 37

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26 requires a party
to provide certain initial disclosures automatically, with-
out awaiting a discovery request. Fed R.Civ.P. 26¢ai(!).
This initial disclosure must include "the name and, if
known, the address and telephone number of each indi-
vidual likely to have discoverable information that the
disclosing party may use to support ifs claims or de-
fenses.” Fed R.Civ.P. 26(a)(1)(4). In addition to identify-
ing the source of such information, the disclosing party
must also identify the subject of the information that they
may use in support of their case. Id

Rule 26 further requires that a party supplement its
initial disclosures throughout the course of litigation
whenever it learns that the information originally pro-
vided turns out to be "incomplete or incorrect and if the
additional corrective information has not otherwise been
made known to the other parties [¥10] during the dis-
covery process.” Fed R.Civ.P. 26¢e)(1). The Rule also
makes clear that "[a] party is under a duty seasonably to
amend a prior response to an interrogatory, request for

production, or request for admission if the party learns
that the response is in some material respect incomplete
or incorrect and if the additional or corrective informa-
tion has not otherwise been made known to the other
parties during the discovery process.” Fed R.Civ.P.
26¢e)(2).

To ensure compliance with these rules of discovery,
Rule 37 provides that any party that "without substantial
justification fails to disclose information required by
Rule 26(a), or 26(e)(1}, or to amend a prior response to
discovery as required by Rule 26(e)(2), is not, unless
such failure is harmless, permitted to use as evidence at
trial, at a hearing, or on a motion any witness or informa-
tion not so disclosed.” Fed R.Civ.P. 37(cj(i). The Sev-
enth Circuit has stated that "the sanction of exclusion is
aytomatic and mandatory unless the sanctioned party can
show that its violation of Rule 26(a) was either justified
or harmless." David v. Caterpillar, Inc, 324 F.3d 851,
8§57 (7Tth Cir. 2003). The district court [*11] enjoys
broad discretion in making determinations whether Rule
26(a) violations are justified or harmless; however, the
following four factors should guide the exercise of that
discretion: 1) the prejudice or surprise to the party
against whom the evidence is offered; 2) the ability of
the party to cure the prejudice; 3) the likelihood of dis-
ruption to the trial; and 4) the bad faith or willfulness
involved in not disclosing the evidence at an earlier date.
Id The court will address these four elements in turn.

First, Piaintiff has suffered some degree of prejudice
and surprise in learning on the last day of fact discovery
that the defense would raise the issue of Harry Vernetti's
cognitive problems. It is true that Phillip Vernett] testi-
fied that he and his sisters discussed the possibility that
their father was suffering from dementia at his deposition
on Pebruary 21, 2006. It is also true that on October 3,
2006, Plaintiff received a letter suggesting Defendants
might pursue Mr. Vernetti’s cognitive problems as a de-
fense. However, Plaintiff had no foreshadowing of the
type and volume of material that the Defendants pro-
duced on the last day of fact discovery.

Second, by reopening [*12] fact discovery for the
limited purpose of allowing Plaintiff time to conduct
discovery concerning the content of Defendants’ supple-
mental disclosures, the court is able to cure much of the
prejudice Plaintiff has suffered. However, reopening fact
discovery at this stage would impose additional expense
and delay into the proceedings.

Third, allowing Defendants to use evidence of Hatry
Vernetti's cognitive problems will not disrupt the trial. A
trial date has not been established at this peint.

Finally, the Defendants have exhibited bad faith in
revealing new witnesses on the last day of fact discovery.
Defendants are the daughters of Harry Vernetti and, ac-
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cording to their brother Phillip's deposition testimony of
February 21, 2006, they were aware of their father's cog-
nitive problems and even discussed with Phillip the pos-
sibility that their father was suffering from dementia.
Defendants were obliged under Rule 26{w)(1) to identify
each individual "likely to have discoverable information
that the disclosing party may use to support its claims or
defenses,” and to supplement or correct such disclosures
"if the party learns that in come material respect the in-
formation disclosed [*13] is incomplete or incorrect and
if the additional or corrective information has sot ofher-
wise been made known." Fed R.Civ.P.26(e)(1) (emphasis
added). Defendants' conduct in this case constitutes bad
faith. The Defendants have failed to comply with either
the spirit or the letter of Rule 26.

The issue then becomes whether the Plaintiff was
“otherwise made known” of any of the materia! disclosed
in Defendant's last minute supplement. The Plaintiff was
made aware of Defendants' claim that Harry Vernetti
suffered cognitive problems through Phillip's deposition
testimony. Linda Dunn, Diane Callahan and Phillip Ver-
netti were identified as having information concerning
Harry's cognitive problems and the Defendants may use
that information in their defense. The court will not pre-

vent these siblings from testifying about their knowledge
of their father's cognitive problems.

However, the remaining witnesses which were
sprung on the Plaintiff at the eleventh hour via the sup-
plemental disclosure were improperly disclosed and not
"atherwise made known" to the Plaintiff. Therefore, pur-
suant to Rule 37, Defendants are barred from using at
trial, at a hearing, or an a motion any testimony from
[*14] Michael Dunn, Carol Shumaker, Thomas Laugh-
lin, Richard Nora and Bernard O'Malley concerning
Harry Vernetti's cognitive problems.

IV. Conclusion:

In light of the foregoing discussion, Plaintiff's Mo-
tion to Preclude is granted in part. The Defendants are
barred from using at trial, at a hearing, or on a maotion
any testimony from Michael Dunn, Carol Shumaker.
Thomas Laughlin, Richard Nora and Bernard O'Malley
concerning Harry Vernetti's cognitive problems.

P. Michael Mahoney, MAGISTRATE JUDGE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DATE: April 12, 2007




